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The Senate met at 1:30 p.m., the Speaker in the chair.

Prayers.

SENATORS’ STATEMENTS

THE LATE REGINALD “CRASH” HARRISON

Hon. Tracy Muggli: Honourable senators, today I rise to
recognize the life and service of a Canadian hero, the life of
Reginald “Crash” Harrison, who was born August 16, 1922, in
Pheasant Forks, Saskatchewan, not far from Regina.

In 1941 he went to the Royal Canadian Air Force, or RCAF,
pre-enlistment school in Regina, and in the summer of 1943 Reg
and his friend “Buddy” Holloway crossed the Atlantic to
England. Whenever Buddy wrote his fiancée, Jean, back home,
he’d tell Reg to include something at the end of the letter
because, “You never know, you might meet her one day,” Buddy
would say. Once there, Reg joined 431 Squadron of the RCAF,
flying Halifax bombers. He flew 19 missions in total, facing
enemy fighters and the constant risk of death. He lost friends,
including his good friend Buddy.

On one fateful trip on March 15, 1944, a bomb failed to drop
during a mission in France and later exploded after landing,
killing two members of his crew. Reg suffered serious burns and
spent 10 weeks at the East Grinstead Hospital burn unit, where
experimental plastic surgeries were developed, and whose
patients became part of the “Guinea Pig Club,” a mutual support
network for a courageous group of airmen who survived horrific
injuries and underwent these early skin grafts. The club had
reunions every two years, which Reg attended until the year
2000.

His nickname “Crash” was no accident. He survived four
separate crashes during his service. Each time he survived was a
testament to his resilience and a touch of fate.

Following his fourth crash, Reg recalled a meeting with the
squadron commanding officer telling him:

Well, Crash, you’ve cheated the Grim Reaper four times. I
have a feeling you’re not going to be lucky the fifth time, so
I’m going to screen you and send you back home.

Upon returning home, he sought out Jean, whom I mentioned
earlier, the fiancée of his fallen friend Buddy. Planning to stay
two days, he stayed four.

Reg returned to Saskatchewan and took a job with the
Veterans’ Land Administration in November 1945. He continued
to correspond with Jean, went to visit her in Ottawa the following
summer and the two were married on December 23, 1946,
spending 43 years together before Jean’s passing.

Reg and Jean built a family, having three daughters — Laurie,
Marion and Susan. They lived in Regina and then Saskatoon,
where Reg helped war veterans obtain farms and other supports
through federal programs from the Veterans’ Land
Administration.

To recognize his service, along with his numerous medals, Reg
was recognized as an Honorary Snowbird in 2018.

Reg passed away one week ago today, at the age of 103.
May his memory inspire us to face our own challenges with
persistence, to cherish our friendships and to live lives of
purpose. Thank you, Reginald “Crash” Harrison, for your
courage, life and service to our country.

Thank you, meegwetch.

TRUTH AND RECONCILIATION COMMISSION  
CALLS TO ACTION

Hon. Margaret Dawn Anderson: Honourable senators, it is
the responsibility of this chamber to represent under-represented
groups and provide a powerful voice for those whose voices have
been sidelined, ignored or diminished. That responsibility is a
core obligation of reconciliation, a constitutional and moral duty
this institution cannot evade. It is at the heart of why we sit in
this place. Today, I rise once again because a Truth and
Reconciliation Commission Call to Action commitment made in
this very chamber remains outstanding.

In June 2021 Parliament unanimously passed Bill C-8, An Act
to amend the Citizenship Act (Truth and Reconciliation
Commission of Canada’s call to action number 94). The oath
now includes a solemn promise to respect the Aboriginal treaty
rights of First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples. It was a
milestone many of us believed would finally bring meaning and
truth to the citizenship guide that newcomers read when they
arrive in this country.

However, four years and five months later, the Immigration,
Refugees and Citizenship Canada study guide and TRC Call to
Action 93, meant to teach newcomers the truth of our shared
history, remains unchanged, frozen in time, detached from the
oath we proudly amended and detached from the truth that
newcomers deserve to learn.

What stands before us is no delay at all, but entrenched federal
inaction and an unmistakable failure of political will. The TRC
Call to Action 93 is a clear and direct request that Canada revise
the citizenship guide to reflect Indigenous history, treaties,
residential schools and the ongoing realities of survivors and
their families.

Let me be candid: It remains outstanding despite my repeated
attempts to address it. Despite sponsoring Bill C-8 in the Senate.
Despite raising it during ministerial Question Period and in
Senate Question Period. Despite writing letters. Despite speaking
privately with ministers and their staff. Despite trying to resolve
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this quietly, respectfully and in good faith. I have asked. I have
urged. I have reminded. And still, nothing. No response, no
urgency and no accountability.

We are now on the fifth minister responsible for this file since
2021. Five ministers. Five opportunities. Five chances to deliver
on a promise that Canada made in the spirit of reconciliation.
Yet, we stand here today with no revised guide, no timeline, no
accountability and a TRC Call to Action unmet.

Honourable colleagues, this is not a delay; it is indifference, an
abandonment that erodes what little trust remains in federal
commitments to Indigenous Peoples. The silence and inaction are
deafening. They echo through these halls, where obligations go
unfulfilled, drowning the promises we keep hearing.

Reconciliation cannot survive on symbolic gestures. It cannot
survive on ceremonies, speeches or photo opportunities. It
requires action, honouring commitments and following through
when work becomes inconvenient, complex or politically
uninteresting.

So today, after four years and five months of calls, follow-ups
and silence from federal ministers, I am done urging. It is
unconscionable that Canada could celebrate the passage of
Bill C-8, claim honour and trust and yet allow one of its core
commitments to stall in silence and indifference. Quyanainni,
mahsi, koana, thank you.

VISITORS IN THE GALLERY

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, I wish to draw
your attention to the presence in the gallery of Dawn Lavell-
Harvard, former president of the Native Women’s Association of
Canada, and her daughter, Brianna Harvard. They are the guests
of the Honourable Senator Prosper.

On behalf of all honourable senators, I welcome you to the
Senate of Canada.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!

HURRICANE MELISSA

Hon. Paulette Senior: Honourable senators, I rise on the
unceded, unsurrendered territory of the Anishinaabe Algonquin
Nation to pay homage to the people in Jamaica, Haiti and Cuba
who were recently devastated by Hurricane Melissa. This was the
most powerful hurricane in history to hit the region, taking lives,
shutting down electrical grids, hospitals and critical infrastructure
relied on by millions of people.

The day the hurricane struck Jamaica is one I will never forget.
Even though I was here in the safety of the Senate, it was
impossible for me to focus or sit still, as my mind wandered
incessantly to what my family members, friends and people were
experiencing, and the undeniable trauma they were undergoing.

Today, weeks after the devastation, I am relieved to say that all
members of my family are safe, but they did not escape the
destructive damage many of us have heard about.

• (1340)

This prompted many here in Canada and elsewhere to quickly
rally and support those back home to rebuild, restore and repair
their homes.

The crushing power of Melissa left countless people in the
region not only without homes and means to support themselves,
but struggling with mental health issues that are bound to linger
for years to come.

Jamaica, known as the land of wood and water, is the land of
my birth; there is an invisible umbilical cord that will never be
severed. It is about a sense of home that has never left me, even
though I left as a child. Without a doubt, Canada is my home and
always will be. But I am also Jamaican, and this will never
change. When they hurt, I feel it in my bones, like a collective
pain that reaches beyond borders to those of us in the diaspora
across oceans, mountains and plains, reminding us of our roots
and lineage.

This is not unique to Jamaicans or Caribbean people; it is the
experience of those of us who hail from other lands and carry
dual or triple cultural identities that also define who we are.

There is no doubt Jamaica will rebuild; of this, I am certain. I
am personally deeply thankful to the Government of Canada for
the commitments made to date, including $11 million for
humanitarian assistance and another $6 million toward
development assistance in the region. In addition, Canada is
matching donations from the public to the Canadian Red Cross
up to $3 million. This support will go a long way to assist with
immediate relief efforts, but additional resources will be required
for longer-term resilient infrastructure.

Jamaicans are often described as a strong and resilient people.
While this is true, I hasten to remind us that resilience in
circumstances of crises often comes at unavoidable costs of lives
and livelihoods. So, let us save lives by supporting strong,
resilient structures while we work collectively to curb the global
impact of climate change, no matter where we live, work or play.

Thank you, meegwetch.

[Translation]

VISITORS IN THE GALLERY

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, I wish to draw
your attention to the presence in the gallery of Denise Comeau-
Desautels, President, and Gaël Corbineau, Director General, from
the Fédération acadienne de la Nouvelle-Écosse. They are the
guests of the Honourable Senator Aucoin.
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On behalf of all honourable senators, I welcome you to the
Senate of Canada.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!

LA FÉDÉRATION ACADIENNE DE LA NOUVELLE-ÉCOSSE

Hon. Réjean Aucoin: Honourable senators, I am extremely
proud to rise today to pay tribute to a pillar of francophone
vitality in my province, the Fédération acadienne de la Nouvelle-
Écosse, or FANE.

Founded in 1968, FANE plays an essential role in defending
and promoting the rights, language and culture of minority
Acadian and francophone communities in Nova Scotia. It acts as
a spokesperson, while fostering the development of strong
institutions and vibrant communities across the province. This is
no easy feat for a province whose Acadian and francophone
minority represents 3.8% of the population.

FANE is the voice of those in communities, such as Clare,
Chéticamp, Argyle, Isle Madame, the south shore region, Tor
Bay and Pomquet, who continue to live proudly in French despite
everyday challenges.

Among FANE’s many accomplishments, I’d like to mention
the key role it played in creating homogenous French schools and
setting up the Conseil scolaire acadien provincial, which enables
our children to be educated entirely in French. I’d also like to
mention its active participation in obtaining protected provincial
ridings for Acadian regions and government services under the
French-language Services Act.

FANE also played a pivotal role in having Nova Scotia’s
Acadian community recognized as an essential partner in
implementing linguistic and cultural polices within the provincial
government and federal institutions. It also contributed to the
creation of collaborative agreements between Canada and Nova
Scotia in the area of francophone community development and
the active promotion of linguistic duality as a fundamental value
of our country.

Today, Senator Surette and I are very proud to acknowledge
the presence in the gallery of Denise Comeau-Desautels, chair of
FANE. As Acadian senators from Nova Scotia, we are proud to
welcome you to the Senate.

Your dedication and your leadership deeply inspire all those
who believe in the richness of the French fact in Canada.

Dear colleagues, FANE embodies the resilience, pride, and
creativity of the Acadian people. I invite you to join me in
commending its remarkable work in making the voice of Nova
Scotian Acadians heard.

Thank you. Welalin.

[English]

VISITOR IN THE GALLERY

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, I wish to draw
your attention to the presence in the gallery of Lucas Merrifield.
He is the guest of the Honourable Senator Arnold.

On behalf of all honourable senators, I welcome you to the
Senate of Canada.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!

THE LATE COLLEEN JONES, C.M.

Hon. Michael L. MacDonald: Honourable senators, an
accomplished daughter of Nova Scotia left us this week. Colleen
Jones, sadly, passed away at the too young age of 65.

Nova Scotians knew Colleen for many decades as a broadcast
journalist, but Canadians and, eventually, the world knew her as
one of the best curlers that this country of great curlers has ever
produced.

And what a champion she was. Just listen to the list of her
curling accomplishments. In a 38-year span between 1979 and
2017, she did the following: She won the Nova Scotia Junior
Women’s Championship twice, the first time when she was 19
years of age. She would later in life win the Nova Scotia Senior
Women’s title three times. She won the Nova Scotia mixed title
eight times and won the Nova Scotia Women’s Championship
itself an astonishing 15 times.

But winning at the provincial level is not like winning at the
national level. High-level national curling in Canada calls for
great skill under pressure — and it is world-class curling.

Traditionally, Nova Scotia wins in national curling
competitions had always been a rarity — until Colleen Jones
came along. Colleen kicked the door open. At age 22, she
became the youngest woman to ever skip and win the national
women’s championship. She would go on to win the Canadian
women’s title six times, including an unprecedented and
unequalled four straight championships from 2001 to 2005. In
total, she would compete in a record 21 national women’s
championships, also winning the Canadian Mixed Curling
Championships twice and later a Canadian Senior Women’s
Championship.

Colleen would represent Canada at six world championships,
winning twice: .333 is always a really good batting average.
When she won the Canadian Senior Women’s Championship in
2017, it gave her the opportunity to win one of the few titles that
ever eluded her — the World Senior Women’s Championship.
And of course, she won, and her rink did it in style, undefeated
for the entire tournament. What a competitor she was.
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Colleen was a member of the Canadian Curling Hall of Fame,
Canada’s Sports Hall of Fame and the Order of Canada. In 2018,
when Nova Scotians were asked to rate our 15 greatest athletes of
all time, Collen finished second, but only to Sidney Crosby.
That’s pretty good company to be keeping.

Colleen was one of nine children; she had seven sisters and a
brother, or, as Colleen liked to say, “two curling teams and a
spare.”

On behalf of the Senate of Canada, I would like to extend our
deepest sympathies to Colleen’s husband, Scott Saunders; her
sons, Zach and Luke; her grandson; her many siblings; and the
extended family. She left quite a mark in the 65 years she was
with us. Colleen made Nova Scotians proud.

Thank you, Colleen, for everything you did. God rest your soul
and let perpetual light shine upon you.

• (1350)

[Translation]

VISITORS IN THE GALLERY

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, I wish to draw
your attention to the presence in the gallery of nominees for the
Quebec 2025 women prizes granted by Diversité Québec. They
are the guests of the Honourable Senator Audette.

On behalf of all honourable senators, I welcome you to the
Senate of Canada.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!

[English]

CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES

Hon. Mary Coyle: Honourable senators, I rise today to
provide a brief report on my recent participation in COP 30, the
United Nations Climate Change Conference in Belém, Brazil,
situated in the lush — highly important to the people who live
there and to our planet — Amazonia region.

At the official opening of COP 30, Brazilian President Lula da
Silva said, “I hope that the serenity of the forest may inspire . . .
all of us . . . to see what must be done.”

COP 30 was touted as the “COP of Truth,” the “Indigenous
COP” and the “COP of implementation.”

Also attending were Senator Galvez, MP Patrick Bonin and
ministers Dabrusin and Guilbeault.

COP 30 marked 10 years since the landmark Paris Agreement
on climate, which covers climate change mitigation, adaptation
and finance. Nations agreed to keep the global temperature

down — to bend the curve on the rapidly rising warming trend
and to limit it to below 1.5 degrees above pre-industrial levels.
The way to achieve this is for greenhouse gas emissions to be
reduced, as soon as and by as much as possible.

Each country puts forward its specific commitments to reduce
their greenhouse gas emissions towards the global targets set in
that agreement. Even with some progress made, 2024 was the
hottest year on record, with a rise of more than 1.5 degrees in
global average temperature.

At COP 30, I attended multilateral negotiations; hosted a panel
on the Canadian Youth Climate Assembly; took in events on
Indigenous Climate Leadership, the Global Initiative for
Information Integrity on Climate Change, Climate Risk and Early
Warning Systems, accelerating climate finance for adaptation,
the Youth Assembly on agriculture and energy transition;
attended Canadian delegation briefings; participated in some of
the Peoples’ Summit; and networked feverishly.

The growing momentum from much of the world, including
the EU, China and much of the Global South, is towards a clean-
energy-fuelled future; that was evident. But agreement on a
Brazil-promoted road map to phase out fossil fuels was elusive,
even though an agreement had been reached at COP 28 in Dubai,
calling for countries to shift energy systems away from fossil
fuels in a just and orderly fashion.

Colleagues, multilateralism was alive at COP, even if
dangerously slow. There was action on the Global Climate
Finance Accelerator, adaptation finance, technology
implementation, just transition, investment targets for clean
energy grids, and gender and climate change, among others.

Colleagues, the thing that gives me hope is the growing global
human collective of talent, commitment and perseverance
dedicated to urgently finding and implementing effective climate
solutions, thus ensuring our future.

Wela’lioq.

VISITOR IN THE GALLERY

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, I wish to draw
your attention to the presence in the gallery of Abdulkader
Husrieh, the new Governor of the Central Bank of Syria. He is
the guest of the Honourable Senator Al Zaibak.

On behalf of all honourable senators, I welcome you to the
Senate of Canada.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!
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ROUTINE PROCEEDINGS

STUDY OF 2025 REPORT ON THE STATUTES REPEAL  
ACT AND LIST OF ACTS OR PROVISIONS OF ACTS

PROPOSED TO NOT BE REPEALED IN 2025

SECOND REPORT OF LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS
COMMITTEE TABLED

Hon. Denise Batters: Honourable senators, I have the honour
to table, in both official languages, the second report of the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs,
entitled Report on the report on the Statutes Repeal Act for the
year 2025.

ENERGY, THE ENVIRONMENT AND  
NATURAL RESOURCES

BUDGET AND AUTHORIZATION TO TRAVEL—STUDY ON
NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR’S OFFSHORE PETROLEUM

INDUSTRY—FIRST REPORT OF COMMITTEE PRESENTED

Hon. Joan Kingston, Chair of the Standing Senate Committee
on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources, presented
the following report:

Thursday, November 27, 2025

The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the
Environment and Natural Resources has the honour to
present its

FIRST REPORT

Your committee, which was authorized by the Senate on
Wednesday, October 8, 2025, to examine and report on
Newfoundland and Labrador’s offshore petroleum industry,
respectfully requests funds for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2026, and requests, for the purpose of such study,
that it be empowered:

a) to travel inside Canada.

Pursuant to Chapter 3:05, section 1(1)(c) of the Senate
Administrative Rules, the budget submitted to the Standing
Committee on Internal Economy, Budgets and
Administration and the report thereon of that committee are
appended to this report.

Respectfully submitted,

JOAN KINGSTON

Chair

(For text of budget, see today’s Journals of the Senate, p. 469.)

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, when shall this
report be taken into consideration?

(On motion of Senator Kingston, report placed on the Orders
of the Day for consideration at the next sitting of the Senate.)

FISHERIES AND OCEANS

NOTICE OF MOTION TO AUTHORIZE COMMITTEE TO  
EXTEND DATE OF FINAL REPORT ON STUDY OF OCEAN  

CARBON SEQUESTRATION

Hon. Fabian Manning: Honourable senators, I give notice
that, at the next sitting of the Senate, I will move:

That, notwithstanding the order of the Senate adopted on
Wednesday, October 8, 2025, the date for the final report of
the Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries and Oceans in
relation to its study on ocean carbon sequestration and its
use in Canada be extended from December 31, 2025, to
March 31, 2026.

HUMAN RIGHTS

STUDY ON ISSUES RELATING TO HUMAN RIGHTS GENERALLY—
NOTICE OF MOTION TO PLACE EIGHTH REPORT OF COMMITTEE

PRESENTED DURING FIRST SESSION OF FORTY-FOURTH
PARLIAMENT ON ORDERS OF THE DAY

Hon. Paulette Senior: Honourable senators, I give notice that,
at the next sitting of the Senate, I will move:

That the eighth report (interim) of the Standing Senate
Committee on Human Rights, entitled Ripped from Home:
The Global Crisis of Forced Displacement, deposited with
the Clerk of the Senate on December 3, 2024, during the
First Session of the Forty-fourth Parliament, be placed on
the Orders of the Day under the rubric Other Business,
Reports of Committees — Other, for consideration at the
next sitting.

QUESTION PERIOD

INDIGENOUS SERVICES

INDIAN ACT

Hon. Mary Jane McCallum: My question is for the Leader of
the Government in the Senate. Leader, since the introduction of
Bill S-2, the government’s approach has been troubling. From the
outset, the minister and yourself made it clear that no
amendments would be accepted, raising real concerns about the
respect for this chamber’s independence in our work. A remark
regarding being racist made by the minister during a committee
meeting had the potential to undermine the integrity of the
Senate, the committee and the report.
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As the Government Representative in the Senate, do you
believe it is compatible with the independence of this chamber
for a minister of the Crown to intervene with senators in this
manner?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): I witnessed the intervention of the minister at the
committee. I think that it was a very emotional discussion that
had taken place between the minister and the senator.

• (1400)

That being said, I think the main message of the minister and
the main message of this government — and I’ll have the
opportunity to reiterate it today — is not that we differ on the
purpose of the amendment; we differ on the way it should be
done because of our obligation under the Constitution and the
obligation of the Crown. Indigenous Peoples have earned
consultation, and those consultations are taking place at the
moment. This is the only thing that the government is requesting:
Wait for the consultation. That’s what the Indigenous community
asked for, and this is exactly what the minister and the
government want to deliver.

In regard to the end of the question, we all agree that —

[Translation]

The Hon. the Speaker: I’m sorry, Senator Moreau, but your
time is up.

[English]

Senator McCallum: The time to have reached out to people to
cooperate, especially the Indigenous People in the committee,
would have been in September when we had so much time ahead
of us. To me, it was not done in the spirit of cooperation,
consultation and reconciliation — the very consultation your
government hides behind to justify not accepting any
amendments. Why should we believe your government when it
says it wants to consult —

The Hon. the Speaker: Thank you, Senator McCallum.

Senator Moreau: The minister, who is of Indigenous descent,
said that she agrees that the Indian Act must be amended to
withdraw all the bad things that we have in this law, but there’s a
due process that has to be followed: It is consultation. This
consultation has been going on since 2023 and will end this
upcoming month, which is in the next few weeks.

It is the duty of the Crown to uphold that obligation. That’s the
problem we have.

FINANCE

COST OF LIVING

Hon. Leo Housakos (Leader of the Opposition): Senator
Moreau, over the past few weeks, you have been painting a rosy
picture of Canada — a version where Canadians are not
struggling to afford food, where the housing crisis has been

resolved, where jobs are plentiful and where the cost of living is
manageable. In doing so, Senator Moreau, you ignore the voices
of 25% of Canadians who are now relying on food banks for
survival. You also signalled to the 41.3% of Conservative voters
and the 13.8% who voted for other parties that their struggles and
desires for real change do not matter. After all, in your Prime
Minister’s words, “who cares?”

But beyond selective statistics and empty announcements,
Canadians are facing double-digit inflation on basic essentials:
staggering increases in mortgages, rent costs, milk and food.
Leader, if your government cannot offer immediate solutions, can
you at least acknowledge their voices, recognize their hardship
and just offer some empathy?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): The government offers sympathy, Senator Housakos,
and recognizes that the situation has to be addressed. That’s
exactly what the government is doing with the budget that has
been tabled recently, because we want to create jobs, invest in
infrastructure, bring back good earnings to Canadians and protect
Canadians from the economic situation that, worldwide, is not
that nice.

But here in Canada, inflation — you were referring to
inflation — is down 2.2%. For almost two years, it’s been
running within the Bank of Canada’s target. This is a good
month. Unemployment is down again, and jobs are up again.
Everything is not settled, but the government is committed to
making our economy grow, offering good jobs to Canadians and
protecting them from bad situations.

Senator Housakos: Government leader, I agree that inflation
has been at a stable point, but thank you for recognizing that
certain items like milk, food, meat and gas — essential
elements — are still rising at an amazing pace, yet your
government still focuses on appearances. The Prime Minister’s
team even constructed a sham housing project site at a cost of
$32,000 to taxpayers to simply stage the Build Canada Homes
announcement. We need real things, government leader.

When will the government come up with tangible responses for
working-class Canadians who are struggling?

Senator Moreau: In terms of action, the Build Canada Homes
project is $13 billion. I think that’s action in capitalization to
bolster the industry and other orders of government, as well as
Indigenous communities, to build affordable housing while
protecting existing affordable rental housing with a $1.5-billion
investment in the Canada Rental Protection Fund. Build Canada
Homes will also build transitional and supportive housing for
people who are homeless or —
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[Translation]

The Hon. the Speaker: Thank you, Senator Moreau. Your
time is up.

[English]

HOUSING, INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITIES

AFFORDABLE HOUSING

Hon. Tony Loffreda: Senator Moreau, over the past year, the
government has announced several significant housing
initiatives, including the Housing Design Catalogue, fast-tracking
zoning tools, the National School Food Program tied to the
construction of new schools and, most recently, the Build Canada
Homes agency. These are ambitious measures, and Canadians
want them to succeed. However, at the same time, more than
2.2 million Canadian households will renew their mortgages over
the next 24 months. Many face significant payment increases.
Even with new housing supply under way, many families are still
concerned about affordability today.

Can you tell us how the government plans to ensure that the
rollout of new housing initiatives, particularly Build Canada
Homes, will be accompanied by short-term relief or safeguards
for the millions of Canadians renewing their mortgages at much
higher costs?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Creating jobs is a way to answer the affordability
question. Maintaining inflation at a very low rate is another way
to do that, as is ensuring that unemployment is down.

With regard to mortgages, the Financial Consumer Agency of
Canada has expectations for banks, not only for the government.
If the Financial Consumer Agency of Canada expects banks to
help individuals who may be struggling to pay their mortgages
due to exceptional circumstances, then these expectations also
apply to other federally regulated financial institutions that offer
mortgages.

Inflation is down 2.2%, as I pointed out to Senator Housakos.
For almost two years, it’s been running within the Bank of
Canada’s target. This is a good month, and, as I said,
unemployment is down as well.

Thank you for the question, senator, and, unfortunately, I think
my time is up now.

Senator Loffreda: Thank you. We have more time now, but
thank you for the answer.

Respectfully, families need clarity. Can the government
commit to identifying specific short-term affordability measures
and commit to communicating them to Canadians before the bulk
of renewals peak over the next 18 months? Also, can it explore
additional short-term responsible options, such as temporary
amortization flexibility, targeted interest relief tools — I can go
on and on, but my time is up.

Senator Moreau: We go from “time is up” to “time is up.”

While I cannot speculate on any potential future programs or
legislation, I note that, thanks to the government’s strong fiscal
position and responsible economic plan, Canada is well placed to
manage the challenges ahead.

Again, this month — just as it was last month and just as it has
been every month since Mr. Carney has become Prime
Minister — Canadian wages have grown faster than the rate of
inflation. Canadians are getting ahead.

PRIVY COUNCIL OFFICE

CANADA-ALBERTA MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Hon. Yuen Pau Woo: Senator Moreau, my question is about
the memorandum of understanding, or MOU, between the federal
government and Alberta. First of all, it’s wonderful to see the
renewed comity between the Province of Alberta and the federal
government. The MOU talks about the leadership of the private
sector on this project, with the government providing what is
called political support. Can we take that to mean that the federal
government will not put any federal money into the project and
that it will be entirely led by the private sector?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): The MOU was released a few minutes ago, Senator
Woo. The Prime Minister has been clear that projects emerging
from this MOU will only be built in consultation and partnership
with Indigenous rights holders in Alberta. They’ll create
unprecedented opportunities for Indigenous co-ownership,
partnership and economic benefits.

However, between the MOU and the construction of anything,
there are many things that have to be done. Alberta and Canada
recognize their obligation to consult with and, where appropriate,
accommodate Indigenous People. As far as investment is
concerned, both governments expect that there will be private
investment as well in such an important project.

• (1410)

Senator Woo: Private investment, I hope, to the exclusion of
federal government investment, because that’s what the
implication of the MOU is.

You mentioned the importance of benefits and job creation for
First Nations communities — that would be terrific — but the
government has also said that no project can go ahead without
the consent of First Nations rights holders. Would it be accurate
to say that any proposed project will not go ahead unless there is
the consent of the affected rights holders?
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Senator Moreau: Yes. I can quote from the MOU itself:

Canada and Alberta are committed to respecting Aboriginal
and Treaty rights, engaging in early, consistent, and
meaningful consultation with Indigenous Peoples, in a
manner that promotes reconciliation, and respects the rights
and cultures of Indigenous Peoples while advancing
economic opportunities through Indigenous ownership and
partnerships.

[Translation]

HEALTH

SALE OF FOOD DERIVED FROM CLONED ANIMALS IN CANADA

Hon. Josée Verner: My question is for the Government
Representative.

Many Canadians, myself included, were recently taken aback
when media outlets revealed that Health Canada had very quietly
authorized the sale of food derived from cloned animals without
prior notice and without labelling, effective January 2026.

Faced with public outcry over this approach, the department
has indefinitely suspended the implementation of this decision.
Senator Moreau, do you find this lack of transparency acceptable
to consumers who, more than ever, are concerned about the
origin and safety of the food they put in their grocery carts?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Thank you for the question, Senator Verner. I checked
with Health Canada.

Health Canada, in collaboration with other departments,
applied a rigorous process in reviewing the scientific literature on
foods made from cloned cattle and swine. The science underpins
Health Canada’s conclusion that food products made from these
animals and their progeny are as safe and nutritious as foods
from traditionally bred animals. This is consistent with the
interpretation of other trusted jurisdictions.

As you noted in your question, the Government of Canada has
received significant input from both consumers and industry
about the implications of this potential policy update. The policy
update was suspended to provide time for further discussions
with stakeholders and people wishing to comment before the
policy is released.

Senator Verner: As you mentioned, Health Canada based its
decision on consultations held by email over a two-month period
in the spring of 2024, though no final report was publicly
released despite a commitment in that regard.

Can you make sure that the Minister of Health will take steps
to have this report released quickly in order to set the record
straight on the reasons for this controversial decision?

Senator Moreau: Senator Verner, I commit to speaking with
the Minister of Health to ensure that the work related to the
development of the policy is made public and that I’m able to get

back to you on the nature of the consultations that will be carried
out so that the policy addresses the concerns of Canadians,
particularly with regard to transparency and food safety.

[English]

AGRICULTURE AND AGRI-FOOD

CHINA—CANOLA EXPORTS

Hon. Marty Klyne: Senator Moreau, the 100% tariff on
Chinese electric vehicles has triggered retaliatory action from
China, directly harming Canadian canola producers. Export
markets are shrinking, prices are softening and thousands of
Western Canadian farmers face growing uncertainty.

Meanwhile, Saskatchewan’s Federated Co-operatives Limited,
or FCL, has a fully permitted, shovel-ready canola-crushing and
renewable-fuel refinery, a project that has been paused for two
years. If restarted, it would create a major domestic market for
Canadian canola, produce renewable diesel and sustainable
aviation fuel to cut emissions in trucking and aviation, and
reduce China’s leverage over our agriculture sector and,
indirectly, our auto sector.

This project remains stalled not due to market conditions but
because of regulatory and political uncertainty. Escalating
construction and operating costs, unclear procurement pathways
and potential shifts in low-carbon policy, including Clean Fuel
Regulations, are all creating too much instability. What steps is
the —

The Hon. the Speaker: Thank you.

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Thank you, Senator Klyne. You have time in
supplementary to finish your question, but this is a very
interesting project, and I imagine you want to see what will
happen with it. I guess that is the question.

As you know, we have adopted Bill C-5 in an attempt to cut
red tape on approval for very important projects. It’s the kind of
project that the Major Projects Office would be open to
considering, and I will certainly bring whatever information you
have to the Prime Minister’s Office to ensure that the Major
Projects Office takes it into consideration.

Senator Klyne: Thank you for that. Senator Moreau, this is
more than a single facility. Restarting this project would turn a
trade dispute into a made-in-Canada solution that helps farmers
today, cuts emissions tomorrow and creates a just transition for
thousands of long-term jobs.

Given the urgent needs of the canola producers and the
significant climate and economic benefits at stake, I’m pleased to
hear that you’ll take this up with Minister Hodgson and
potentially the Prime Minister to engage directly with FCL to
provide the clarity and predictability needed to move this project
forward.
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Senator Moreau: It is the government’s commitment to
develop cleaner energy, and this is certainly a project that goes in
that direction. So I’ll gladly and promptly present the project to
the Prime Minister’s Office in that way.

HEALTH

ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE

Hon. Leo Housakos (Leader of the Opposition):
Government leader, a new FOI-based report from
SecondStreet.org has revealed a national tragedy: 23,746
Canadians died last year while waiting for surgeries or diagnostic
procedures. Since 2018, more than 100,000 people have died not
because they received bad care but because they never received
care at all.

For years, the opposition warned that this government’s
choices — its spending, its priorities and particularly its failure to
manage immigration and population growth — were pushing
houses, health care and services to a breaking point. So tell us,
government leader, how can this government possibly defend its
record when tens of thousands of Canadians are literally dying in
line, and won’t the government finally admit that its own
mismanagement and lack of fiscal anchor have driven our health
care system into a crisis?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): The Government of Canada is willing to work with
provinces on helping with the health care system. The
government will invest massively and collaborate with provinces
to ensure that health care everywhere in Canada can improve.

I told you before, but the way you are describing things —
your argument is that I look at things with rose-coloured glasses.
Your description of Canada does not match the Canada that I see.
It’s not the Canada that Canadians witness, and it certainly does
not reflect the will that Canadians expressed in the last election.
This government is bringing hope to Canadians and is committed
to continue working to do that by investing in the Canadian
economy, creating jobs and helping Canadians.

Senator Housakos: I see Canada as the greatest country in the
world, but the greatest country in the world speaks for the
100,000 Canadians who have lost their lives waiting for health
care, something that we Canadians think is unacceptable. It’s not
enough to say, “Well, we won the last election,” because those
voices couldn’t be heard in the last election because they didn’t
receive sufficient care to be able to vote. These are the people
I’m fighting for. These are the voices I’m standing for. When
will the government understand that we’re not here to represent
only the well-to-do, but those who are suffering as well?

Senator Moreau: I answered your question earlier today,
Senator Housakos. The government is investing to help
Canadians everywhere — housing, for instance, homelessness,
people who are in danger of being homeless. The government is
investing billions of dollars in that.

• (1420)

Don’t tell Canadians that the government doesn’t care about
how Canadians are living. By investing in Canada, the Prime
Minister has proven that he really cares for Canadians.

Hon. Yonah Martin (Deputy Leader of the Opposition):
Government leader, at yesterday’s meeting of the House of
Commons Standing Committee on Health, my colleague MP Dan
Mazier highlighted that Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship
Canada, or IRCC, has been promoting Canada’s supposedly free
health care system as part of its communications strategy to
attract newcomers. Yet, as Senator Housakos just noted, more
than 23,000 Canadians died last year while waiting for surgeries
or diagnostic procedures. Additionally, over 6.5 million
Canadians are still without a family doctor.

Senator Housakos: Shame.

Senator Martin: Leader, Canadians are facing unprecedented
strain and deteriorating access to care. Isn’t it deeply insulting for
your government to market a health care system abroad that is
clearly failing to deliver adequately for Canadians at home?

Senator Batters: Hear, hear.

Senator Moreau: When we are talking of improving access to
family doctors and transforming Canada’s health care system, it
means all levels of government and health partners working
together to do what is needed so Canadians can get the health
care they deserve. It’s not only a federal jurisdiction; it’s every
government’s jurisdiction.

Health care workers need support through getting additional
health workers into the system faster. The government is stepping
up with close to $200 billion in direct health care funding to
transform the health care system together with provinces and
territories. This is more than words: It’s money. It’s $200 billion.

The deal with provinces and territories targets what matters
most to Canadians: more doctors and nurses, shorter wait times
and better health care. The government is committed to that.

IMMIGRATION, REFUGEES AND CITIZENSHIP

INTERIM FEDERAL HEALTH PROGRAM

Hon. Yonah Martin (Deputy Leader of the Opposition):
Leader, my question relates to what the IRCC is saying to people
abroad. Officials also testified that the Minister of Immigration
wasn’t even aware of her own department’s communications
strategy. This follows her inability last week to answer basic
questions on the Interim Federal Health Program.
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After 10 years of Liberal mismanagement, Canadians deserve
competence. Will the Prime Minister replace this minister and
take our immigration system seriously?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Do you think that, as Government Representative in the
Senate, I am the one who will tell you how the Prime Minister
will manage his cabinet?

The Prime Minister is supporting the members of his cabinet.
If you would like an answer on my part, as far as I’m concerned,
this is more than only words. There is action, because the
government —

The Hon. the Speaker: Thank you, Senator Moreau.

[Translation]

TREASURY BOARD SECRETARIAT

WORKPLACE HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE

Hon. Martine Hébert: My question is for the Government
Representative in the Senate. Yesterday, we saw members of the
Can’t Buy My Silence movement, which is crusading against the
misuse of non-disclosure agreements, or NDAs, in certain
workplaces, especially in cases of harassment and sexual or
psychological violence, or abusive behaviour.

We know that this type of agreement effectively gags the
victims or stops them from seeking help and support services, not
to mention the services they need to get through such ordeals,
while permanently protecting the abuser’s identity.

As an employer, does the Government of Canada use non-
disclosure agreements in cases of workplace harassment or
violence?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Generally speaking, confidentiality agreements are used
in both the private and public sectors. I do not have specific
information on the extent to which they are used in each sector.
Indeed, by their very nature, I wouldn’t have access to these
confidentiality agreements. However, these provisions exist in
labour relations in both the public and private sectors.

I would say that the best way to communicate with victims in
these cases, or with people who are victims of abusive situations,
is definitely do so before signing these kinds of agreements.
There’s never any obligation to sign them, and it is essential to
have good information about the scope of confidentiality
agreements that are suggested to settle these disputes in labour
relations, both in the public and private sectors.

Senator Hébert: There may not be an obligation, but victims
are often under a lot of pressure to sign those agreements,
unfortunately.

I can see that you don’t have specific information about this,
but can you at least tell us how many non-disclosure agreements
the government has signed in human resource complaint cases, or
can you get that kind of general information?

Senator Moreau: If that information exists, I’ll try to find it. I
don’t know if it’s in a central registry, but whatever I manage to
find out, I’ll share with you.

I think your question speaks to the importance of reminding
people who are negotiating these kinds of agreements to ensure
they are well aware of their scope.

JUSTICE

SUPPORT FOR WOMEN WHO ARE VICTIMS OF VIOLENCE

Hon. Manuelle Oudar: Senator Moreau, I thank you for your
consistent attention to challenges facing women.

From November 25 to December 10, the entire world is uniting
to speak out against violence against women and femicide in
particular.

The 2024 police-reported crime statistics published by
Statistics Canada on July 22, 2025, show an alarming rise in
femicide in Canada, with an annual total of 198 victims.

Femicide is the most serious violation of women’s rights, the
right to life, and yet it is not currently recognized as a separate
offence.

Lawyers and experts are now recommending that Canada
amend its Criminal Code to create a separate offence to
differentiate femicide from other types of homicide in order to
better prevent and punish such crimes. What does the
government intend to do?

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Thank you for what you said at the beginning of your
question. That is very kind. I’m very mindful of these types of
situations and all the measures that could be put in place to
prevent violence against women.

You asked the Minister of Justice a question when he appeared
before the Senate. The government has expressed its clear
intention to amend the Criminal Code to prevent certain
situations and respond to several challenges that
disproportionately affect women, including sexual violence,
intimate partner violence and coercive control, which as you
know, is a concept that was recently recognized by the Supreme
Court.

To follow up on the government’s promises, Bill C-14 already
sets out amendments regarding sexual violence, and I reaffirm
the government’s intention to make some of the amendments to
the Criminal Code that you mentioned would be a good idea.
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Senator Oudar: My question was about femicide, not sexual
abuse.

Numerous femicides occur after warning signs have been
ignored. Many victims had previously reported threats or
domestic violence without receiving any protection. Nearly 40%
of women killed had previously sought help.

What immediate measures does the government intend to put
in place to protect women, especially those who have already
reported threats?

Senator Moreau: Obviously, when it comes to immediate
measures, we’ll have to see what provisions will be added and
what changes will be made to the Criminal Code. For now, you
can appreciate why I’m somewhat reluctant to answer these
questions, since I don’t have the text of the law in front of me.

To answer your question directly, the government is
introducing additional funding of up to $223 million to
strengthen the federal government’s various actions, including
against gender-based violence.

The government is in the process of reviewing and integrating
the recommendations of the Office of the Federal Ombudsman
for Victims of Crime on survivors—

The Hon. the Speaker: Thank you, Senator Moreau.

• (1430)

[English]

ORDERS OF THE DAY

INDIAN ACT

BILL TO AMEND—FIRST REPORT OF INDIGENOUS PEOPLES
COMMITTEE—DEBATE ADJOURNED

The Senate proceeded to consideration of the first report of the
Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples (Bill S-2, An
Act to amend the Indian Act (new registration entitlements), with
amendments and observations), presented in the Senate on
November 25, 2025.

Hon. Margo Greenwood moved the adoption of the report.

She said: Honourable senators, I begin by acknowledging that I
am speaking from the traditional, unceded territories of the
Algonquin Anishinaabe Peoples.

In my capacity as the Deputy Chair of the Standing Senate
Committee on Indigenous Peoples, I am honoured to rise to
speak on Bill S-2, An Act to amend the Indian Act (new
registration entitlements). As Senator Audette is both the Chair
of the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples and the
bill’s sponsor, she recused herself from her role as chair for the

duration of this study in order to preserve the neutrality of the
chair. As deputy chair of the committee, I took on the role of
chair for the committee’s study on Bill S-2.

Bill S-2 amends the Indian Act to address the legacy impact of
enfranchisement by providing new entitlements to those who
were enfranchised or whose ancestors were enfranchised. Those
who are not eligible for entitlements also have the right to have
their names entered into a band list maintained by Indigenous
Services Canada. This measure is in response to the Supreme
Court of British Columbia’s ruling in Nicholas v. Canada
(Attorney General) that found that paragraph 6(1)(a.1) and the
entirety of paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Indian Act unjustifiably
infringe on section 15 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and
Freedoms.

Bill S-2 goes beyond the Nicholas decision and includes other
amendments to the Indian Act. It amends the act to provide for
persons to voluntarily deregister their status. Deregistration
involves an individual requesting to have only their name
removed from the Indian Register but would maintain their
entitlement to being registered without impacting subsequent
generations.

The bill also amends the Indian Act to allow women who were
automatically transferred to their husband’s band upon marriage
prior to 1985 to have a right to membership in their natal bands.

Finally, Bill S-2 amends the Indian Act to replace outdated and
offensive language by replacing the term “mentally incompetent
Indian” with “dependent adult.”

In its review of Bill S-2, the Standing Senate Committee on
Indigenous Peoples held 12 meetings and heard from 62 unique
witnesses. This includes two separate appearances from Minister
Gull-Masty. Further, the committee received and published
49 briefs from organizations and individuals across Canada.
While all witnesses who appeared before our committee were
supportive of the above amendments to the Indian Act, there was
near-unanimous agreement that it did not go far enough in
removing ongoing discrimination that affects First Nations
People to this day.

Senators, the issue of discrimination that was almost
unanimously raised by witnesses is the second-generation cut-off.
Specifically, the amendments that Parliament adopted in 1985
created two categories of Indian status, known as 6(1) and 6(2)
Indian status. Indian status in general is the legal standing of a
person who is registered under the Indian Act, and it comes with
a set of legal rights, restrictions and entitlements that are defined
in the Indian Act.

Someone with 6(1) Indian status can pass along status to their
children regardless of whether they marry a non-status person. If
they do marry a non-status person, their children will have what
is known as 6(2) status. However, if that individual with
subsection 6(2) status has a child with a non-status person, their
children will not have status. They will no longer be recognized
as a status Indian by the government and will lose their
Aboriginal rights, their treaty rights and their identity.
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National Chief Cindy Woodhouse Nepinak told our committee
that while the Assembly of First Nations supports addressing the
discriminatory elements that Bill S-2 seeks to remedy, they also
stated that the bill is another “. . . piecemeal approach to ending
discrimination that has not worked and will not work to bring
justice and lasting solutions.”

National Chief Cindy Woodhouse Nepinak continued:

. . . the Assembly of First Nations endorses legislative
amendments to the Indian Act that repeal the second-
generation cut-off rule and introduce a system whereby an
individual who is a direct descendant of a status Indian or an
individual entitled to be registered as a status Indian or
would be eligible to obtain status.

Dr. Pam Palmater told our committee that while she supports
Bill S-2 she believes the Senate:

. . . must make an amendment to eliminate the second-
generation cut-off in this bill. It simply cannot enact yet
another bill . . . with these incrementally tiny steps while
having an iron grip on the legislative extinction in
disappearing Indian formula. . . .

Zoë Craig-Sparrow from Justice for Girls told our committee:

I fundamentally disagree with any suggestion that there is a
cohesive position from Indigenous Peoples that it is best to
move forward on Bill S-2 as is and address the second-
generation cut-off later. You cannot end discrimination
incrementally. We cannot ensure equality for a few, and then
wait years, if ever, for another bill to pass where piecemeal
amendments are made and substantive equality remains a
pipe dream, especially not when we have the opportunity
here to do both.

Cora McGuire-Cyrette, Chief Executive Officer of the Ontario
Native Women’s Association, told us:

Continuing the second-generation cut-off will result in the
numbers of registered Indians declining over time,
eventually leading to the extinction of status Indians and
entire communities. A one-parent rule not only tackles the
urgent issue of extinction but also sex discrimination.

She called on our committee to “ . . . to fully remedy the
residual sex discrimination in the Indian Act . . . .”

Many witnesses also raised the Standing Senate Committee on
Indigenous Peoples’ 2022 report entitled Make it stop! Ending
the remaining discrimination in Indian registration. This report
called for the Government of Canada to introduce legislation
repealing subsection 6(2) of the Indian Act. The committee
responded to the calls of the overwhelming majority of our
witnesses to address this harmful element of discrimination in the
Indian Act.

In response, there were four amendments made to the bill that
were approved by the committee. The first amendment to
Bill S-2 has four components. First, it amended paragraph 6(1)
(a.3) of the Indian Act to remove the 1985 cut-off.

• (1440)

Second, it amended paragraph 6(1)(f) of that act to move to a
one-parent rule.

Third, it repealed subsection 6(2) and 6(2.1) of the act to
remove the second-generation cut-off.

Fourth, it amended paragraph 6(3)(b) of that act to ensure that
future generations can still be registered even if their parent is
deceased if that parent was entitled to be registered under the
new rules, and it removed reference to section 6(2) to ensure
consistency.

The second amendment amended paragraph 11(1)(d) of the
Indian Act, repealed 11(2)(a) and amended 11(2)(b). This second
amendment ensures that those newly entitled to register — based
on the removal of the second-generation cut-off — will be added
to section 11 band lists.

The third amendment added two “for greater certainty” clauses
to the bill to ensure that there are no unintended consequences
related to the removal of subsection 6(2) from the Indian Act by
clarifying that the registrar must recognize any entitlements to be
registered that existed under subsection 6(2) of the Indian Act
immediately before the day on which these amendments to
Bill S-2 come into force.

The fourth amendment is a delay in the coming-into-force
provision related to the previous three amendments. The original
amendment was six months, and the committee approved a
subamendment that changed the coming-into-force provision to
12 months. This would allow more time for the minister to finish
her consultative work and introduce stand-alone legislation that
might address additional concerns and how to welcome back the
newly entitled.

Furthermore, the committee also voted down the “no liability”
provisions found in clauses 10 and 11 of Bill S-2, which
prevented persons from making claims for compensation for
harms suffered due to inequities in the discriminatory registration
provisions of the Indian Act.

The removal of clauses 10 and 11 is in line with calls from
almost all witnesses, as the “no liability” provisions created a
barrier to justice.

As Ms. Buffalo stated:

We object to the no-liability clauses for those individuals
who have been harmed and continue to be harmed by the
Indian Act membership amendments. Those must be in line
with reconciliation and they must include redress and
remedy.
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Sharon McIvor of the Indian Act Sex Discrimination Working
Group said:

We have not been able to identify any other Canadian law
that includes a bar to compensation for discrimination. The
bars violate the Charter, and international treaties Canada
has ratified. After everything else, First Nations women
should not have to litigate in order to eliminate this bar.

Further, the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples
report Make It Stop! Ending the remaining discrimination in
Indian registration also spoke to barriers to compensation and its
objection to non-liability clauses. I quote from the report:

The committee agrees with witnesses that reparations,
including compensation and a formal apology, are essential
to recognize the harms experienced by First Nations women
and their descendants as a result of discrimination in the
registration provisions under the Indian Act. . . .
Additionally, the committee believes that non-liability
clauses must be repealed to enable First Nations women and
their descendants to access compensation. . . .

As such, the removal of these two clauses is consistent with
the current testimony and the committee’s previous studies on
discrimination in registration practices.

The committee also made numerous observations in its report
regarding Bill S-2.

The Hon. the Speaker: Senator, your time has expired. Are
you asking for more time to complete and maybe take questions?
Are you asking for five minutes?

Senator Greenwood: Yes, please.

The Hon. the Speaker: Is leave granted, honourable senators?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Greenwood: Thank you, Your Honour.

I have several observations, so I’m going to read them very
quickly:

Number 1, the committee welcomes the provisions in Bill S-2
that correct the historic injustice of enfranchisement and which
restore entitlement to individuals and their descendants.

Number 2, the committee heard numerous instances of
discrimination resulting from the Indian Act based on race, sex
and marital status.

Number 3, the committee recognizes the importance of First
Nations exercising self-determination and affirms that First
Nations should decide who is a citizen of their nation, and that
this should rest with the Nation itself.

Number 4, the committee heard from witness who contend that
the bars to compensation in the Indian Act violate the Charter
and international treaties Canada has ratified. The committee
agrees with these witnesses that First Nations women should not
have to resort to litigation.

Number 5, the committee believes a clear statutory
commitment is required that provides adequate, sustainable and
predictable funding to First Nations to administer new
regulations regarding status and membership.

Number 6, the committee observed there was confusion
regarding the meaning of terms “Indian status,” “band
membership” and “citizenship,” as at times the terms were
conflated during the study.

Number 7, the committee observed there is a lack of clarity
over who “rights holders” are, which is of particular importance
for the purposes of federal consultation related to ongoing sex-
and race-based discrimination under the act.

Number 8, while Bill S-2 provides the ability for those who
regain their status or those who were automatically transferred to
their husband’s band to return to their natal band, it does so only
for those First Nations who have their band membership
managed by Canada under section 11 of the Indian Act. It should
not be optional for a First Nation that manages its membership
list under section 10 to potentially deny new membership.

Number 9, the committee also heard that the loss of status and
connection to community also cuts people off from their inherent
treaty relationship with Canada. It is imperative that any
restoration of status also carry the recognition of treaty
entitlements. The committee calls on Canada to fully restore
treaty entitlements and benefits to those who regain their status.

I want to close by thanking all the senators, clerks, analysts
and staff who worked on this report.

Perhaps most importantly, I want to thank the witnesses who
appeared before our committee. Thank you for your tenacity and
perseverance, for sharing your personal stories and for standing
up against discrimination. The committee has heard you and has
acted to the best of its ability to address the issues laid before us
in your testimony.

Thank you, honourable senators. Hiy hiy.

Hon. Pierre Moreau (Government Representative in the
Senate): Honourable senators, I would like to acknowledge that
we gather on the unceded territory of the Algonquin
Anishinaabeg and to express my commitment to truth and
reconciliation with First Nations, Inuit and Métis People.

• (1450)

I rise to address the report of the Standing Senate Committee
on Indigenous Peoples on Bill S-2, An Act to amend the Indian
Act (new registration entitlements).
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[Translation]

First of all, I want to thank the committee and express my deep
respect for its work. I also want to call attention to the excellent
job done by Senator Greenwood, who presided over this study.
Like the government, I personally undertake to sincerely and
humbly support efforts to rid the Indian Act of any lingering
inequities. We all share this objective, and we need to work on it
together. With the committee’s report completed just a few days
ago, I wanted to take the first opportunity to comment on the
important issues it raises. We all need to remember that a court
deadline is involved here, but most of all, that the future of
approximately 3,500 people depends on the passage of this bill.

[English]

Colleagues, like most of you in this chamber, I am not of
Indigenous descent and, like most of you, I am called to address
and decide upon changes to the Indian Act, an act that has deeply
disrupted and dislocated the lives of generations of Indigenous
people.

Not only are we called to deliberate on fundamentally
Indigenous matters, colleagues, we are asked to do this with full
knowledge that Indigenous Peoples in this country have suffered
from well over a century of discrimination and state-sanctioned
oppression, in a word, from a history of colonialism.

[Translation]

While Canada has taken significant measures and has
conducted reforms to acknowledge the serious injustices of the
past, they persist nonetheless. They’re the product of a shameful
colonial past prolonged by the discriminatory practices of
successive governments. To address this, we need to proceed
with truth and honesty as we advance toward our ultimate goal of
reconciliation.

In pursuit of this ultimate goal, Canada has taken on
constitutional obligations to demonstrate to Indigenous peoples
its sincere and determined commitment to leaving its colonial
past behind and its desire to view the future through the lens of
nation-to-nation relations, thereby enabling Indigenous
communities to choose their own destiny.

As senators, our responsibility is to ensure that the government
meets its obligations as set out by the Supreme Court of Canada,
not to attempt to circumvent them.

When the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples
reviewed the amendments presented to us in its report, I stated,
and I repeat today, that we all agree on the problems posed by the
second-generation cut-off, and that we are united in our desire to
eradicate discrimination in the Indian Act. The minister agrees,
and I fully support her view, that the issue of the second-
generation cut-off must be resolved. So our issue is not with the
substance of the matter, but rather how to achieve our goal.

[English]

Honourable senators, let us recall the substance of Bill S-2.

The principal intent of Bill S-2 is to respond to the Nicholas
decision. In Nicholas, the government committed to introduce
legislation to fix the inequities caused by enfranchisement-related
provisions.

The former bill, Bill C-38, An Act to amend the Indian Act
(New Registration Entitlements), now reintroduced as Bill S-2,
was tabled on December 14, 2022, and proposed four
amendments to address issues and recommendations made during
the 2018-19 collaborative process, including enfranchisement
and deregistration.

As the minister stated, Bill S-2 proposes restoring entitlement
to individuals and their descendants who lost it to
enfranchisement, often involuntarily.

In addition, upon receiving Royal Assent, Bill S-2 would give
First Nations individuals the power to remove themselves from
the Indian Register and reclaim control over their identity. It
would eliminate outdated and offensive language from the act
about dependent persons. It would make it easier for people to
rejoin the First Nation band of their birth.

Colleagues, the minister has acknowledged that Bill S-2 does
not address all concerns with the Indian Act. It was drafted to
respond to specific concerns, primarily in response to the
Nicholas case.

In August of this year, the British Columbia Supreme Court
ruled that the government has until April 30, 2026, to satisfy the
concerns raised in Nicholas.

If we respect the intent of the bill as originally drafted, both
chambers can facilitate the completion of the work and passage
of this important piece of legislation before the court deadline.

Passing this legislation would have an immediate and material
effect on approximately 3,500 First Nations members. The
Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples heard directly
from some of those people who would be directly impacted such
as Michel Callihoo Nation Society who, in their brief, stated that
while some inequities will remain:

The Bill, if passed into law, represents a significant step
towards the reconciliation of the painful relationship
between Canada, the disestablished Michel Band #472, and
the modern descendants of the historic Treaty 6 Band.

Some might not think this is enough. Nonetheless, it is a
positive gain, a concrete step forward directly impacting the lives
of thousands of people. Why would we hold it up?

[Translation]

It is important to remember that the minister recognized that
inequalities remain in the Indian Act. She also pointed out that
section 10 of the Indian Act makes it difficult for First Nations to
reclaim control over their membership lists because of high
voting thresholds, which are growing increasingly inaccessible.
Of course, she also talked about the second-generation cut-off,
which took up the bulk of the committee’s time on this study.
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With all due respect, I’d like to once again share the
government’s position and reiterate the minister’s commitment to
senators, First Nations and Canadians. At the end of September,
when she first appeared before the Indigenous Peoples
Committee, Minister Gull-Masty recognized that the second-
generation cut-off continues to erode entitlement over
generations. She then said:

Under the rule, if an entitled person marries someone who is
not entitled, their children hold entitlement but their
children — the second generation — don’t.

That, in a nutshell, is what the second-generation cut-off is all
about.

In September, the minister also explained that she was
listening and that consultations on the second-generation cut-off
were under way. She reiterated her message to senators when she
appeared before the Indigenous Peoples Committee a second
time in early November and in a brief that she submitted to the
committee on November 7. I would invite senators to read that
important document.

[English]

I want to return to the November 7 brief the minister submitted
to the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples. The
minister stated, “For me, it is not whether we will address the
second-generation-cut off, but how.”

Senators, this is the dilemma we face. What will be the “how”?
How will we move forward? How will we get through this
impasse? The means we employ are crucial here. Certainly, the
ends cannot justify the means. When it comes to the duty to
consult, the means are what ultimately define the ends.
Indigenous community must determine the path forward.
Community must craft and bring forward their own solutions.

• (1500)

The minister continues by explaining that she is listening —
and she is listening in the way she should — via consultation
with communities and rights holders.

Let me return to her brief:

[The government] launched a co-developed consultation
process in November 2023. This process is focused on
addressing the remaining inequities in the Indian Act that we
are committed to addressing, including the second-
generation cut-off . . . .

The minister continues to explain:

Right now, we are hearing from many First Nation
rightsholders and organizations on proposed solutions on the
path forward and how we can address the second-generation
cut-off. . . .

Through this process, we want to ensure that we propose a
solution to the remaining inequities that have the consensus
of First Nation rightsholders and that we avoid unintended

consequences that could entrench new barriers or exclusions
and replicate the very kinds of discrimination we are
working to eliminate. The goal must be to move forward in a
way that strengthens fairness and restores rights, rather than
opening the door to future harms.

Colleagues, we have heard statements like “The government
has been consulting for over 40 years.” I agree. No one denies
that different types of consultation with various degrees of
complexity have been occurring over the last decades. The legacy
of colonialism in Canada has made reconciliation a difficult and
complicated process. Nonetheless, consultations must be specific,
led by the Crown and rooted in communities, not by a
parliamentary committee.

As the minister stated in her second appearance, “The duty to
consult is not merely a checkbox.”

Her department is currently concluding the process of hearing
from First Nations organizations and from rights holders on the
second-generation cut-off. The minister stated:

These engagements form the basis for a direct, in-depth
discussion with First Nations on how to address changes in
the act. Introducing an amendment to Bill S-2 without
meeting our fundamental legal duty to consult would repeat
outdated processes that unilaterally impose legislative
solutions.

The minister goes on to highlight the importance of the process
she is undertaking. Let me reference her again at length:

I want to be very clear on this point. Canada must uphold its
duty to consult under section 35 of the Constitution Act,
1982. It is the responsibility of the Government of Canada,
and it is one that I take very seriously. As a former Grand
Chief in my Nation, as a Deputy Chief in my community, it
is a position that I reaffirm that we are obliged to ensure that
the government respects the duty to consult. That message
continues in my role as a minister. It is not one that I will
change.

Honourable senators, in this very chamber, we have a long
tradition of holding the government to account on its
constitutional obligation to consult. During the Forty-second
Parliament, in his comments on how it was problematic that
private members’ bills here at the Senate and in the other place
were not subject to any form of application of the duty to consult,
former senator Dan Christmas said:

I wish to put it on the record that, as we struggle to
understand and determine how the Senate can and will deal
with Indigenous reconciliation, willingly embracing the duty
to consult with Indigenous peoples is something that must
absolutely occur across Parliament and throughout the whole
of government.
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At third reading, again during the Forty-second Parliament,
when commenting on Bill S-3, which made important changes to
the Indian Act on the elimination of sex-based inequities in
registration, former senator Lillian Dyck stated:

During the initial study of this bill, the Standing Senate
Committee on Aboriginal Peoples heard overwhelming
testimony from witnesses that consultation on this bill was
very rushed and did not satisfy any duty to consult. . . .

Colleagues, the process of consultation is defined. It cannot be
rushed nor can it be done in a simulated way. With the greatest of
humility, how can we as senators not take the duty to consult as
seriously as the minister does? The duty to consult is not void,
symbolic or some secondary administrative step. It is a
constitutional right which was hard-earned by Indigenous
Peoples — a constitutional obligation which we as senators
should uphold and be vigilant about as to its application by the
government, as did Senators Dyck and Christmas.

As it stands, by supporting such an amendment, I’m sorry to
say the Senate is condoning the bypassing of this hard-earned
obligation placed on the Crown — hard-earned by Indigenous
Peoples.

[Translation]

As part of our work, we must demonstrate our commitment to
affirming the inherent right of Indigenous peoples to “free, prior
and informed consent,” to the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act Action Plan and to the
commitments made in the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples itself.

Colleagues, while we continue to correct the injustices of the
Indian Act, our actions must reflect these commitments.

Honourable senators, the media paid close attention to our
study of this bill, given its direction. They quickly reported on
the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples’ clause-
by-clause review. Readers unfamiliar with our bicameral system
could easily get the impression from reading these news reports
that the Indian Act had indeed been amended to address the issue
of the second-generation cut-off. Without arguing the merits of
media coverage of legislation at this stage of the process, the
attention generated by Bill S-2 forced the minister to make her
views known through extra-parliamentary channels.

Before concluding, I think it is useful to include in our
deliberations what the minister said to The Canadian Press. Her
message reflects the position of the other place and how firmly
the government opposes the proposed amendments.

[English]

Minister Gull-Masty explains:

Looking at what the Senate is proposing, this is the work
that they chose to do. But for me, I think it’s so much more
important to go back to community and ask them, what are
the criteria (you want for First Nations status)?

She continues:

Being a status Indian is a construct of the Indian Act. Being
First Nations is, what I think, community needs to do the
work of defining. That’s part of the collaborative process.
That’s where I believe community members, right now, have
to take the opportunity to tell their chiefs and councils, “This
is what I think; this is how we want to define it.”

Colleagues, in plain language, the minister explains her
obligation to rights holders and to communities and her duty to
consult. What leaves me perplexed, frankly, is that we are
debating changes to a law that we know would not survive a
court challenge by the very groups affected by this bill.

Honourable senators, there are two options before us: Adopt
this report and wait for the message stage to receive the bill
restored to its original form and risk delaying its passage before
the April court deadline. Or we can fulfill our constitutional
obligation and our long tradition of holding the government to
account on its constitutional obligation to consult, not adopt this
report, let the minister complete the consultation process, which
is due in the next weeks, and wait for a stand-alone bill on the
issue that the amendment attempts to address.

• (1510)

For each of the 3,500 individuals and their descendants who
will regain entitlement, I respectfully urge you to reject this
report so that we may continue to work with the minister and the
government in addressing the second-generation cut-off.

Thank you. Meegwetch.

[Translation]

Hon. Michèle Audette: Would the Government
Representative take a question?

Senator Moreau: Yes, of course.

Senator Audette: Senator Moreau, are you aware of the 2018
decision in Mikisew Cree First Nation v. Canada, which clearly
states:

[English]

“The Crown has no legal duty to consult during law making.”
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[Translation]

I understand that this is what we do, what we have done and
what we must do.

We can certainly add a third option, which would be to pass a
bill with thoughtful amendments. This option should be added.
We should also have a democratic debate.

Senator Moreau, I’m an Innu woman and therefore subject to
the Indian Act. I’m also the first Innu woman to be a senator. The
minister — whom I like very much — and I dream of having the
same thing, specifically the one-parent rule since the James Bay
and Northern Quebec Agreement. Why must my rights as an
Indian woman — since we’re talking about the Indian Act — be
subject to a duty to consult, when not long ago, in this very
chamber, Bill C-5 didn’t receive the same treatment and didn’t
face the same reality and the same actions? I didn’t get the sense
that there was any duty to consult. Why must human rights and
women’s rights, under the Canadian Charter of Rights and
Freedoms, be subject to a lengthy process that isn’t required by
the court? It’s because we’re debating a bill, but we don’t seem
to be applying the same requirement to the government currently
in power.

Thank you.

Senator Moreau: Thank you for the questions, Senator
Audette.

You know, in a former life I had the privilege of working
closely with Indigenous communities, including Innu
communities in Quebec. I have the utmost respect for them. I
understand your question, that you don’t want a legal debate on
the application of constitutional provisions or my interpretation
of Supreme Court of Canada decisions.

I’m well aware of the decision that you’re referring to. The
duty to consult has also been set out in other Supreme Court of
Canada decisions. I’m sure that Senator Prosper is aware of these
decisions as well.

The duty to consult is governed by a very specific mechanism.
It’s an obligation imposed on the Crown. It was enshrined not
only in the Constitution Act, Canada’s supreme law, but also in
the interpretation it was given by the Supreme Court, which
oversaw the entire consultation process. The reason why the
Supreme Court oversaw the consultation process is that
Indigenous communities brought this question before the court
and asked to what extent the duty to consult applied to the
government and the Crown. The Crown’s duty to consult First
Nations was a victory won by the First Nations themselves
through the Supreme Court’s interpretation of section 35 of the
Constitution.

What I find striking today isn’t the substance of the debate
because, generally speaking, when someone is against a
legislative matter, it’s because the government sees things one
way and the opposition sees them another. There is no
disagreement over the substance of the debate here. The minister
twice told the committee that she completely agreed with the
witnesses about the discriminatory effects of the Indian Act and
the obligation to put an end to that and remedy the situation.

However, contrary to the human rights you referred to and
other rights enshrined in the Constitution, the Crown’s right to
amend provisions relating to First Nations is subject to the duty
to consult.

We’ve talked about this several times, and you’ve rightly
pointed out on occasion what I mentioned in my speech, which is
that consultations have been going on for 40 years. Just saying
that consultations have been happening for 40 years doesn’t
mean that that consultation satisfies the criteria imposed by the
Supreme Court and section 35 of the Constitution Act.

Speaking specifically to the second-generation cut-off, the
minister said that consultations carried out in accordance with the
Crown’s obligations have been under way since 2023 and will
wrap up in December 2025. After the consultations, the
provisions can be properly integrated into a bill, and the ultimate
goal that you and I share — correcting the inequities in the
Indian Act — can be achieved.

The minister added her personal view of consultation, that it is
not up to the government to draw up a plan, present it to the First
Nations and ask for their agreement. For the minister,
consultation goes much further than that. For the minister,
consultation is a process that allows the First Nations themselves
to define and outline what will eventually be included in a bill to
determine their future.

In my opinion, this is the best definition of a nation-to-nation
relationship. One nation should not dictate to another how things
will be done. Instead, it is about agreeing on how the parties want
things to be done. That is the principle of consultation.

I have the utmost respect for the work that the committee has
done. I’m not of Indigenous descent. I have read and heard the
poignant testimonies of people who say they experience
discrimination. No one can come away from this kind of exercise
unmoved.

To resolve the problem these people have, the government’s
position, and mine, is that we have a duty and an instruction
manual — which seems highly simplistic to me — that we can
follow to get there and to ensure that the legislation implemented
can withstand any court challenge.

I hope that this overly long intervention has answered your
question. To sum up, our task is not to decide what is right for
them. Instead, we must work together to establish what they
think is right for them.

I’m not asking that we give up on taking corrective action to
rid the Indian Act of discrimination. I’m asking that we work
together to achieve that goal in the right way.

I know that the report by the committee that studied this
question is not ill-intentioned. I think that the only disagreement
we have concerns how to get there. We all know that every effort
must be made to get there.
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• (1520)

The Hon. the Speaker: Before we continue, I would ask
honourable senators not to hold their earpiece while speaking.
They should place it on their desk or in their ear.

Senator Moreau, would you take another question?

Senator Moreau: Yes.

[English]

Hon. Bernadette Clement: Senator Moreau, I will agree with
you that Senator Greenwood did an absolutely stellar job chairing
this committee process. It was very difficult, and we heard some
very difficult testimony. I want to come back to the topic of
consultation, which was the thrust of your argument. I want you
to react to a couple of quotes.

I’m going to quote Professor Pam Palmater. Any day I can
quote her is a good day, in my view. She spoke when we were
looking at Bill S-3. Bill S-3 was one of the last times the
government made an incremental change to the Indian Act. She
said some things in 2017, and she said them again in 2025. I’ll
just quote:

There are some things that the federal government can’t
consult on — whether or not to discriminate on the basis of
race or sex, whether or not to maintain a legislative
extinction formula and contribute to an act of genocide . . . .

She is basically telling us that you can’t consult on whether to
continue discriminating. She was saying, you can consult, and
should consult, continuously, constantly, in the building of that
relationship, but not on whether you can discriminate. I’d like
your reaction to that.

I have a second quote from Senator Joyal, who was present and
argued on the issue of Bill S-3. He said in November 2017:

We are here debating this because we insisted, because the
Senate stood up to its constitutional duty to speak for a
minority. Now the government asks us to accept their word,
that one day, along the road, after consultation, everything
will be fine in the land of bounty that is Canada. On the
basis of past history, should we believe this?

If you could react to the quotes from Professor Pam Palmater
and former Senator Joyal, I would appreciate it.

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: I certainly understand the quotes you just
shared.

This consultation is not about discrimination or non-
discrimination. The Charter of Rights and Freedoms and the
Constitution say there must be no discrimination, and that’s
essentially what those quotes are saying. The purpose of
consultation is not to figure out if we should perpetuate a
situation that conflicts with the Constitution. As I said to Senator
Audette, that’s the reason why the government and members of
the commission are essentially on the same wavelength.

Discrimination must end. This is not a consultation about
discrimination. We know it exists, and we know changes need to
be made.

To continue in the same vein as the quote from Senator Joyal,
the Supreme Court and the Constitution require us to conduct
consultations when changing the legal situation with regard to
what applies to Indigenous nations. What is this duty? What the
minister came to clarify further, beyond how this should be done,
is that it must be done within a structured framework. As the
minister stated, and as indicated in the report she submitted, to
which I referred in my speech, consultations within that
structured framework began in 2023. These consultations weren’t
conducted with the aim of determining whether the Indian Act is
discriminatory; I think everyone has already come to that
conclusion.

Consultations began in 2023 to determine how a solution could
be reached to resolve the issue related to the second generation.

This consultation is not intended to determine whether the
current situation is discriminatory; clearly, it is. Rather, the
consultation is to determine, in your opinion, what solutions
should be implemented to address the second-generation issue.

The minister went even further during her testimony. We were
all there when she testified. She said that the issue of second-
generation discrimination is very complex in that the solutions
are different or could be different from one community to
another. That is precisely one of the objectives of consultation.
The minister believes that consultation does not mean painting a
picture and submitting it by saying, “This is what I think is
right,” but rather saying, “Explain to me what you see as a
problem and what you think is the best way to fix it.”

This consultation is being conducted with a view to achieving
reconciliation. What does reconciliation look like when
negotiated on a nation-to-nation basis? It is certainly not for one
nation to tell the other what it believes is good for it.

I will say it again: In the end, I see no malice or ill intent in the
committee’s recommendations. I see only testimony that adds to
the specific consultation process required of us under section 35
of the Constitution Act and the provisions and clarifications
provided by the Supreme Court in order to arrive at the best
possible solution.

I know you’re a lawyer, so I’ll raise this point. There is a
solution that, were it to be integrated into legislation, would
withstand any attempt at a legal challenge on the basis that the
process was not in fact followed correctly.

We have two situations with Bill S-2. It could make things
right for 3,500 people. I imagine you too have heard, and I have
read this in some of the evidence, that most of the people said
that the proposed content of Bill S-2 would resolve the situation,
and we should move forward.
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The important issue you raised — and it’s more of a political
issue than a legal one — is this: How can people trust that the
government will follow through with this process and introduce a
bill to resolve the second-generation issue? This is a political
issue that comes down to the credibility not only of the minister,
who actually said as much to a Senate committee, but also of the
government, which supports its minister’s intention to introduce
a bill.

I am the Government Representative in the Senate, and I don’t
have the authority to commit to introducing a bill myself. The
best answer to your question is the credibility of the government,
which is committed to answering that question.

Legally, the only way to respond is to pass legislation that will
have followed the procedures required by the Constitution,
legislation that is guided by the Supreme Court and can truly
remedy this situation.

The Hon. the Speaker: Senator Clement, do you have a brief
supplementary question?

Senator Clement: Only if we can return to legal issues,
because I don’t really agree that this is merely a political
argument.

Senator Moreau: That’s not what I said.

Senator Clement: From a legal standpoint, we know that
Bill S-2 is a response to the Nicholas case, but Bill S-3 is a
response to the Descheneaux decision.

Bill S-3 goes further than the court’s recommendation, but
without any consultation. The committee went a little further
than what the Descheneaux decision suggested. We have the
ability to go beyond what the courts have recommended.

I would like to add something else, and I’m not sure how you
will respond, but the Crown doesn’t take action unless it needs to
intervene in a dispute involving a First Nation.

• (1530)

Senator Moreau: I will respond to the last part of your
question. I didn’t mean to suggest that your argument was strictly
political. I want to clarify that. As for the last part of your
question, it is true that governments tend to react when the courts
impose obligations on them. Bill S-2 is a good example of that. A
court ruling has been handed down and a deadline has been
imposed.

I would say — and I did say this in the introduction to my
remarks — that I have a great deal of respect for the work done
by the committee. I get the impression that the government has
listened very carefully to everything surrounding Bill S-2 and has
gone above and beyond to address the issue related to the second
generation. There have been newspaper articles and numerous
testimonies. The Senate committee report indicated that we
absolutely must move forward on this.

The minister appeared twice before the ministerial committee
to make a commitment, and she reiterated that commitment in a
public statement that was reported on by the media. While I don’t
want to minimize the importance of the courts, I would say that

the court of public opinion is probably already seized of the
issue. Furthermore, I’d like to reiterate what I said earlier
regarding the question of credibility. Both the minister and the
government have an interest in resolving this issue, so in that
regard, as the Government Representative, I’m hopeful that
action will be taken.

[English]

Senator Tannas: Senator Moreau, thank you for your
comments. I appreciate them. I have a couple of questions.

With respect, this bill isn’t a movement of the government. It
wasn’t initiated by the government out of the goodness of their
hearts. We all know that. It was done after they fought and lost a
long and bitter court battle. It was determined that these people
had been discriminated against.

It goes to credibility. How is it credible for a government to
fight tooth and nail to deny these things and only grant them
when the court orders them to? Those of us who were here in
2017 were in the exact same moment, when the government was
responding to a court order and promising us that they would fix
this problem.

First, how do you square the credibility you talk about in that
situation and the situation we are in now?

Second, we made another amendment by virtue of deletion.
We deleted a clause that prevented anyone from receiving or
seeking compensation for this. You didn’t mention it. Does that
mean the government is okay with that deletion or are we to
ignore it and hope it comes back? Thank you.

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: I will answer your question in French. First,
with regard to the first part of your comment, there’s nothing I
can really say to ease your doubts about the fact that the bill was
indeed introduced in response to a court ruling that the
government opposed.

Senator Tannas, I will raise the following argument because
you mentioned credibility. I remember having this conversation
with you immediately following the minister’s testimony. To my
knowledge, and I did not do any historical research, this is the
first time that a government minister responsible for Indigenous
Services Canada is from an Indigenous community herself. I was
extremely touched by the testimony that she gave before the
Senate committee when she said the following:

I am deeply affected by the issue of second-generation
discrimination. It really hits close to home because my own
family was discriminated against on this basis.

You referred to the past, but the minister talked about the
future, and she said, “I am not your normal, average minister.”

I am a minister who has the opportunity to implement
measures that will correct a form of discrimination to which
I myself have been subjected.
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In my opinion, the minister’s credibility is tremendous. Her
intentions are sincere; that’s clear from her testimony. I think that
addresses the very legitimate concern you raised about what the
government did in the past. I don’t want to make this about
political credibility, but the Prime Minister gave these
responsibilities to a person from Indigenous communities, a
person who sat alongside Indigenous Chiefs, alongside senators
sitting in this chamber today who were former Indigenous Chiefs,
and said:

You and I, when we were Indigenous leaders in our
respective communities, we fought tooth and nail to ensure
that the Crown is subject to a requirement to consult.

Indigenous leaders across this country, former and present,
fight for the right daily to ensure that the right to be
consulted is awarded to them.

I can’t imagine a person who fought like that and who was, to
borrow your expression, an adversary, becoming a minister of the
Crown and not implementing the elements that made her who she
is today, a great Indigenous leader.

On the issue of credibility, Senator Tannas, the future will tell.
I have no more arguments to present you with, but I believe that
the conditions confronting us today are far different than the
conditions confronting the Senate in 2017, because the person
leading the charge on this important issue is someone who was
personally a victim of discrimination, and who now has some of
the tools needed to correct the situation.

On your second question, as I understand it, the government is
showing some signs of openness. I wouldn’t want to get
sidetracked by technicalities, but whether or not the provision is
included in the bill won’t have much of a real impact on the way
things work out. That’s what I gathered from my conversations
with legal experts on the issue. I also don’t get a sense that the
government would be totally unreceptive to a direct argument on
this issue.

Senator Audette: I would like to talk more about the duty to
consult. The witnesses who spoke at the committee, some of
which were recommended by the minister’s office and her
government, clearly stated that they are ready to move forward
on issues relating to the second-generation cut-off. Those were
people elected by their communities, people who have been there
for a long time. Some of them said they weren’t there 20 years
ago, but they’re there now.

What do we do about those elected leaders, who are ready? On
the one hand, we have a speech from someone who is a former
Chief, and some of those who are elected representatives now are
ready. I think sometimes people use speeches.

Senator Moreau, here’s what I want to ask you. I’m Innu. I’m a
senator, and the Indian Act affects me. Many Chiefs came to see
us, so why wouldn’t we rely on our credibility, our expertise and
our knowledge to resolve this discrimination that has been going
on since 1985?

• (1540)

Senator Moreau: The credibility of the people who came to
speak is not being questioned in any way. Senator Audette, no
one is questioning the sincerity of the people who appeared
before the committee, and nor is the minister. In fact, as you
mentioned, it was the minister’s office that recommended that
some of these individuals appear before the committee as
witnesses.

However, there is a difference between accepting the
statements made by individuals who appear before a committee
and respecting the obligation to follow a procedure — which I
agree may seem cumbersome — that the Crown took on through
the Constitution Act and that the Supreme Court has imposed.

Let’s be clear. When the Innu Chiefs who appeared said that
they are ready, I see that as good news. However, no matter how
ready they may be, the Crown cannot be exempted from its duty
to consult those directly affected by the measures it wishes to
implement and to follow the constitutional consultation process.
That is essential. The consultation will only be easier for them.
The very validity of the legislative measure to be passed is at
stake. We can’t say that we’ll move any faster, because we run
the risk of ending up with legislation that isn’t worth the paper
it’s written on.

[English]

Hon. Denise Batters: Senator Moreau, you spoke earlier about
political credibility and the minister’s political credibility on this,
but when I look at who voted “yes” to these amendments at the
committee, I see a lot of political credibility from the Indigenous
population of Canada among our Senate colleagues here. All of
these descriptions are from their own Senate bios: Senator
Francis, an Indigenous former Chief; Senator Greenwood, an
Indigenous scholar of Cree ancestry, a leader in her field of
medicine; Senator Audette, a recognized Indigenous leader of
Innu descent; Senator McCallum, a First Nations woman of Cree
heritage, a leader in her field of medicine; and Senator Prosper, a
former Mi’kmaw Chief.

Given that, wouldn’t you say that the political credibility is
significant when we are looking at a vote of 10 to 1, with all of
those senators being on the side of the 10?

Senator Moreau: I certainly did not intend to minimize the
credibility of any of the members in this room and certainly not
of any senators of Indigenous descent who are members of the
Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples. That is not
the issue; the issue is we have a constitutional obligation. No
matter how credible we are here, as the chamber of sober second
thought, we don’t have the possibility of adopting a law and
ensuring this law will be binding if we do not submit the Crown
to the obligation of consultation.

It is not a question of political credibility. It is not a question
of credibility among members of the Senate. I’m honoured to sit
with such credible people — all of them — but that is not the
question here. The question is whether we want to uphold the
obligations of the Crown and uphold our duty to respect our
constitutional obligations. This is what it is all about.
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Hon. Mary Jane McCallum: Senator Moreau, there seems to
be misinformation that amendments can prevent a court deadline
in the Nicholas case. Nothing in the Nicholas case prevents
Canada from making amendments to Bill S-2. The court imposed
an initial deadline, as they regularly do.

Now, let’s go back to the Nicholas case, which was filed in
2021. The plaintiffs and Canada had agreed to an abeyance of the
litigation in March 2022 on Canada’s promise to enact legislation
to respect their rights. Bill C-38 was not introduced until 10
months later, in December 2022. Second reading did not begin
until 10 months later, in October 2023. Second reading did not
resume until five months later, in March 2024, but it was never
completed. In May 2024, plaintiffs were forced to end the
abeyance agreement and resume their court case. In August 2025,
judgment was given in favour of the plaintiffs.

Did the government care about the court-imposed deadline?
These court-imposed deadlines are extended on a regular basis if
the court sees evidence that Canada is working toward
implementing the decision, like enacting new legislation or
making amendments to acts — that is what we are doing now.

Canada obtained multiple extensions in the Descheneaux case.
In Bjorkquist, the Ontario Superior Court of Justice found
discrimination in Canada’s citizenship rules, and they got at least
four court extensions to ensure they could pass the legislation,
which they did. There is no law or legal order that prevents
Canada from seeking a court extension if this is the case if they
need it. The minister has already indicated all the Nicholas files
have been pulled and are ready to be approved, so once the
legislation passes, they can work on it as soon as possible.

But the Nicholas litigants don’t have to wait: Canada could
exercise its discretion and pre-emptively register them now.
Nothing ever stops Canada from acting based on Charter rights.

Could you please comment on that?

Senator Moreau: Yes. I will try to answer your questions one
by one.

First, do we care about court deadlines? Of course, we do. The
government cares about court deadlines. That’s the reason why
we want Bill S-2 to be adopted, because Bill S-2 is the response
to the Nicholas case. That brings me back to my basic argument.
What the committee is trying to do by amendment, the
government is not opposed to — the finality of resolving the
second-generation cut-off — but the government is subject to
certain obligations imposed by the Constitution, the rules and the
precision laid out by the Supreme Court of Canada in many
decisions.

That is why the government asked to adopt Bill S-2 as it was
originally proposed and then to adopt, in a stand-alone bill
further down the road, what else has to be adopted to change the
Indian Act. This is the commitment of the minister. You were
there; I remember vividly that you were there, and you asked a
question. I know how involved you are and how emotionally
involved you are in that situation. I understand and respect that
totally.

But this is the answer of the government, and this is the
commitment that the minister has given to you and to all
members of the committee.

• (1550)

Hon. Flordeliz (Gigi) Osler: Senator Moreau, today I’m
hearing you speak about the right way to get there to end the
second-generation cut-off and the federal government’s duty to
consult. I have heard that several times. I’m mindful that in
June 2025, Bill C-5 was passed quickly despite vociferous
concerns voiced by Indigenous leaders about a lack of
consultation. At the Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous
Peoples, in the committee report and among senators here today,
we have heard that there has been 40 years of government
consultations and discussions with community about ending the
second-generation cut-off. Can you help me understand why it
seems that the duty to consult seems vital for some legislation
and not others?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: Thank you for the question. If you don’t
mind, I will answer in French.

You mentioned Bill C-5. I apologize to Senator Audette, I
should have answered that question because Senator Audette
asked why Bill C-5 hadn’t gone through the consultation process.

The main reason is that Bill C-5 doesn’t directly concern the
rights of Indigenous communities. Quite the opposite, Bill C-5
aims to establish an additional consultation process and even a
special committee whose composition was the subject of
recommendations provided to the government. Under a process
provided in Bill C-5, the committee would be composed of
Indigenous leaders who would ensure that the rights of
Indigenous communities are upheld after they’re implemented.

Bill C-5 governs the implementation of major projects, and so
it’s meant for wide-scale implementation, with no immediate and
direct impact on rights applicable to Indigenous nations.

Bill S-2 is entirely different. It directly concerns these rights
and seeks to correct a situation identified by the court in
Nicholas.

Consultation under section 35 of the Constitution Act wasn’t
required for Bill C-5, but it was required for Bill S-2. Moreover,
if we take amendments proposed by the members of the
Indigenous Peoples Committee into account, those provisions
directly affect the Indigenous peoples issue.

I’ll be very frank with you. The government could have raised
a point of law in the Senate claiming that the amendments set out
in Bill S-2 are actually outside the scope of Bill S-2. The
government chose not to go that route for one very specific
reason. It doesn’t want to go that route because it doesn’t want to
look like a cold technocrat that has no intention of resolving the
situation.
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In fact, the minister herself is emotionally involved. The
senator alluded to that earlier in a question posed during
Question Period when she said some harsh words were
exchanged. Why? Because we’re keenly aware of the fact that the
issues raised by the amendments proposed by the committee are
highly emotional due to the inequities Indigenous peoples were
subjected to. I recognize that, and the government also
recognized it in its remarks on the whole.

The choice being made today seems to be to briefly ask why
this is being done at the committee report stage. It is to ensure
that all senators have the opportunity to hear the government’s
position. What I’m doing today is not only reiterating the
commitments made by the minister herself very publicly before
the committee, but I’m also saying that Bill S-2 doesn’t address
these issues and that the problem will have to be fixed another
way.

The process to do so is already under way, since specific
consultations meeting the criteria of section 35 and the decisions
of the Supreme Court of Canada have been ongoing since 2023
and are expected to be completed in December 2025, that is, in
two weeks’ time.

I think I’ve addressed both points in your question. If not, I’ll
do so by answering a supplementary question.

[English]

Senator Osler: I know there are other senators who have
questions. Thank you for that. No supplementary.

Hon. Kim Pate: Senator Moreau, thank you for your
comments. To your last point, I think many First Nations have
very different views about whether Bill C-5 directly impacts, but
that’s not the discussion today.

I want to come back to the point you raised about the minister
indicating she was serious in her commitment to this. As I said at
committee and as I said privately to her — as many others did —
I have no doubt in the sincerity of her conviction to solve this
issue. However, the minister did say at one point that
consultations had started, and then at another point we had
additional evidence that they had not started. She said that stand-
alone legislation would be introduced in the coming months but
had no specific date.

I was here in 2017 and — more to the point — Sharon McIvor,
who testified, talked about hearing this kind of commitment from
18 successive ministers responsible for this area.

I also was here when we passed the disability benefit, and we
heard from the first disabled minister responsible for that benefit
a strong commitment that she would see that through. She was
later removed from cabinet. We saw recently how precarious the
position of the government is. We know that to develop
legislation after consultation it is likely unrealistic that we would
see something sooner than two to three years down the road
unless you can tell us differently today. Is there is a cabinet order
currently for stand-alone legislation?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: I was there when you raised that issue in
committee, Senator Pate, and during some discussions you had
with the minister.

As you know, I can’t share information that would be
considered cabinet confidence. I have to abide by the rules when
I attend cabinet committee meetings.

Regarding your question, I’m very pleased to see that you’re
not questioning the minister’s intentions, her good will or her
credibility when she says she wants to tackle this problem.

Regarding the distinction you made between the minister and
the government, which is absolutely fine, I’ll refer you to
the answers I gave Senator Tannas and other senators who spoke:
Issues around the importance of resolving the discriminatory
second-generation cut-off have reached a wider audience than the
Senate. The government has made promises. The media — which
I called the people’s court, though that may be an
exaggeration — and public opinion are aware of the situation.
It’s a matter of credibility and honour for the government to
follow through on the commitment it made.

Regarding the substance of the bill — and I believe you’re
among those who accept this way of seeing things — Bill S-2
will resolve the problems associated with the issues argued
before the court in Nicholas. Passing Bill S-2 as it was tabled
would benefit at least 3,500 people currently waiting to have
their situation regularized.

• (1600)

So I will reiterate the government’s position and that will
conclude my answer: let’s resolve what can be resolved right
away, while ensuring that the legislation will remain in force
once it’s passed.

Since you’re a legal expert, let me run this by you: What’s the
point of having the Senate support amendments to a bill that the
House of Commons would reject and that would require us to
come back later, at the risk of exceeding the time limit set for the
government by the court to pass provisions resolving the issue
raised in Nicholas? Furthermore, what’s the point of having the
Senate support a provision that, if adopted in violation of
constitutional obligations provided under section 35, would in all
likelihood be legitimately challenged in court and lead to the act
being struck down?

I believe in leaving well enough alone, and in this case, I
suggest to the senators that well enough is the right course,
although it would have been best to have followed that course
sooner.

[English]

Senator Pate: I request a supplementary, because I was asked
a question. Thank you.

Senator Moreau, the opportunity here, and the obligation to
consult, is on how to end discrimination. The Charter obligation
is to end discrimination.
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Without the amendments that were made in committee, two
things will happen. I just want to summarize what we’ve already
heard. The first is about ending the discrimination. The
government says it wants to, so why wouldn’t it accept the
Senate amendments? That seems to be a very obvious question.

Secondly, if there were a bar to pursuing further legal action,
if, in fact, the government were sincere — I’m not talking about
the minister or you; I’m talking about the government — at this
point, we would likely have a cabinet order for stand-alone
legislation, which presumably the government would want us to
know about, and we would not have a bar on future action.

Passing this legislation as it is — I think we all have to be
clear — means that we’re leaving it in the hands of future people
like Sharon McIvor, the many witnesses, Dawn Lavell-Harvard
and her children, the many senators in this chamber and their
grandchildren to bring forward this legislation. Why not just
solve it now? Why would the government not do that?

Senator Moreau: To the question of why, the answer is
because there has been no prior consultation concerning those
specific dispositions that are the amendments proposed by the
committee, and since there has been no previous consultation on
those dispositions, they could be challenged successfully in
court. That is the answer to the question.

As to whether there’s a cabinet order at this point, I hold to the
previous answer I gave you, and I know that you understand why
perfectly.

Hon. Mary Coyle: I didn’t intend to stand, but I must stand
and participate in this very helpful debate.

I thank you, Senator Moreau, and I thank all of my colleagues
for engaging in this absolutely critical debate.

It’s critical to those who have been waiting for so long to have
their rights restored, or at least given to them, to recognize them
and to avoid further discrimination and the extinction that we’ve
been hearing about.

I was a member of the Indigenous Peoples Committee for
almost seven years. I was a part of the Make it Stop! report, and
in good conscience, I have a really hard time leaving it as it is,
trusting and taking yet another leap of faith.

We keep being asked to take leaps of faith, and it’s very hard
when many of the times we’ve taken leaps of faith — many of
which have been mentioned here today — we actually fell. What
was promised was not delivered.

For me, one of the real serious issues here is, frankly, our
credibility as Canada’s chamber of sober second thought.

I heard what you said, and I believe you — that if we pass this
bill with these amendments, as was passed by committee, there’s
a very good chance it will be rejected by the House of Commons.
There’s also a chance — I’m not sure this is necessarily the way
it will go — that we may not meet the deadline. That’s an
arguable point.

I’m concerned about our credibility as a chamber. Did we not
listen when we produced the Make it Stop! report? Did we not
listen to the many very credible witnesses who have a personal
stake in the outcome of this?

I want to ask you, Senator Moreau — I know Senator Pate was
trying to get at this — do we have any evidence or assurance that
there is a plan in place if we were to pass this bill unamended and
complete the important piece that the rest of the people — and
the generations of people — who are waiting for this will be
served and be served soon? I’d like you to talk about our
reputation as a chamber and our job as senators, not just to listen,
but to act on what we hear. Also, what is the government saying
in terms of making assurances that action will be taken to resolve
these issues?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: To the first part of your question regarding
credibility and what we should do as senators, I hope the answer
I’m about to give you won’t be regarded in any way as a brutal
argument.

I would say that one of our obligations as senators — and this
is part of the oath we swear when we become a member of this
chamber — is to ensure respect for the Constitution of Canada.
The primary duty of a senator, then, is to ensure respect for the
Canadian Constitution.

I can imagine senators saying, “Sure, but the Constitution says
we must not discriminate.” I agree, and we will always agree on
that. However, we also all agree that the Indian Act is
discriminatory, and I even used the words “shameful colonial
past” in my opening remarks as a member of the government.
Those are extremely strong words.

Our obligation and our oath of office as senators to uphold the
Constitution of Canada applies to all provisions of the
Constitution, including section 35, which is the duty to consult. I
know that when we see certain rights being denied — which
understandably stirs up intense emotions because of the
discrimination these people have suffered — this view may feel
overly legalistic, but it is our duty. This duty doesn’t get put on
hold; it validates our future actions and the fact that those actions
will successfully pass the test of the courts.

What credibility would the Senate of Canada have if there was
a possibility of us passing a law while knowing full well that it
falls short of our constitutional obligations? I believe that our
credibility is tied to the fact that what must be done is not
necessarily easy, but that what we do must comply with a
provision that is part of a society that believes in the rule of law.
The rule of law imposes an obligation on us here, and First
Nations representatives have rightly demanded that we take
action, and we would not be fulfilling that obligation by passing
amendments that haven’t been subject to consultation.
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• (1610)

Regarding your second question, why should we wait when
there are people waiting? All pettiness aside, there are 3,500
people waiting, people who are so close to having a law that, if
passed by April 30, 2026, will resolve their situation once and for
all.

Perfect is the enemy of the good. The good requires us to
ensure that we resolve what we can resolve correctly and in
accordance with our constitutional obligations, so that those
3,500 people have their status regularized. The best thing to do is
to continue our work to eliminate the discrimination contained in
the Indian Act — discrimination that we all unanimously
condemn — but in such a way that the final solution can truly be
implemented correctly, fairly and without issue.

[English]

Senator Coyle: Thank you very much, Senator Moreau. I
didn’t hear any assurances, but maybe you’ll give me those in a
minute.

There is all this talk of emotion. It is, of course, emotional,
because you’re speaking of people’s rights. But, frankly, I’m
responding from a position of rationality, and I don’t think it’s
rational to keep doing the same thing when that same thing
doesn’t work again and again. Let’s be honest here: It’s not
emotional to be trying to push, in whatever way we can and using
whatever mechanisms we have as a chamber, to finally, once and
for all, move forward and respond to not just people’s but
nations’, groups’ and communities’ demands — their pleas — for
us to do the right thing and get the job done. I applaud our
committee for the very brave, courageous and important work
they did.

I want to be clear: What I’m putting out here and what we’re
hearing from others is rational. It’s not just emotional. It’s both
of those things, and it’s people wanting to do the right thing and
finally finding ways to do so.

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: I wasn’t reducing your argument to an
emotional one. I am well aware that your intervention is also
based on rational criteria, and I welcome that. What I am saying,
however, is that the Senate made its voice heard loud and clear
through the committee’s work. The minister heard our message.
She confirmed and reiterated that she agrees with the objective
being pursued, but she pointed out that we have obligations
regarding how to achieve it. Why do things that don’t work? I
say that because it would be pointless to adopt a provision that
deals with the rights of Indigenous Peoples without first fulfilling
the necessary obligations.

Regarding assurances, I’m sorry, I didn’t mean to dodge the
question. The minister has issued a statement. In terms of my
obligations and the oaths I have sworn as a member of the Privy
Council, I’m not in a position to reveal any discussions that may
be happening in the other place on this issue. I would like to
reiterate my previous answers, specifically, that the government,

through its minister, has publicly committed to finding a solution
to the discrimination that persists in the Indian Act and to the
issues that are not addressed by Bill S-2.

[English]

Hon. Margo Greenwood: I want to share some words from
B.C. First Nations, Senator Moreau. Chief Barbara Cote told our
committee to:

Take this opportunity to eliminate the second-generation
cut-off now. You cannot continue to consult on rights
violations. You cannot consult on legislative extinction,
which amounts to genocide.

It has been 40 years since the second-generation cut-off
came into effect, and in the view of B.C. First Nations, it is
time to stop consulting and address the rights violations and
end the post-1985 sex and race discrimination.

I would like to hear your response to that.

Second, it has been 40 years. How can or will the government
take into account the different conversations and consultations
that have occurred on this topic over the past 40 years?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: The government is taking into account all
the information that has been communicated on the issue of
discrimination against the second generation. I said in my
introductory remarks that the government has been consulting on
this issue for 40 years, but the phrase “the government has been
consulting for 40 years” does not imply that the nature of the
consultations and the constitutional obligations relating to these
consultations, which have been further clarified in recent
Supreme Court decisions, have been followed.

The debates we are having today in this chamber, however
serious they may be, do not fall within the definition of
consultation under section 35 of the Constitution Act. The
conversations that may have taken place between First Nations
representatives and previous governments do not fall within the
definition of consultation under the provisions of the Constitution
Act. The consultation provided for refers to a duty that is strictly
regulated by the Constitution and the courts.

I want to thank Senator Pate, who pointed out during her
remarks that the minister initially said that consultations had not
started but later clarified that consultations on the provisions
meant to fix the discriminatory second-generation cut-off had
started in 2023 and will conclude in December, next month.
These are consultations. In December, the last 40 years should no
longer constitute an argument for the government, since the
consultation will have been done. In December, January and
February, people will be able to ask the Government
Representative in the Senate, the minister and the Prime
Minister: “You’ve finished the consultations, so what do you
intend to do moving forward?”

I heard the following question asked in a number of
interventions: “Why should we believe the government again?”
After today’s pleas, once the consultations end in December,
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given the minister’s statements and commitments, the
government will have a much harder time saying that there is still
a duty to consult, because the consultations will be over. In
theory, the Indigenous communities affected by the rights in
question will have proposed solutions, and the government will
have a duty to respond.

I won’t try to deny that, in the past, governments have said
things and not done them. It would be non-partisan to say that no
government ever kept all of its promises, and everyone here is
old enough to know that.

• (1620)

We are dealing with a deeply emotional issue, an issue based
on eminently rational considerations. This debate is in the public
eye, and the core issue is of great importance to senators, to the
members of the commission and to the minister herself. I would
therefore have a hard time imagining the government keeping
mum on this issue for years to come.

Hon. Pierrette Ringuette: Senator Moreau, I would like some
clarification. The consultation process regarding the amendments
proposed in the committee report ends in December.

What is this commission? Is the consultation being conducted
by the commission or by the government?

The consultations end in December. I dare to hope that the
department has gotten more efficient since the arrival of the new
government, otherwise it will need to be reviewed. I have been
here for 23 years and I keep hearing practically the same things.

Given that we are the chamber of sober first thought in this
case and that the consultation process ends in December, is it
possible for us to send the report with the amendments to the
other place? The other place would get the relevant department to
analyze the consultations and look at the necessary legislation. If
necessary, the other place could provide the sober second thought
by proposing amendments or improvements or removing certain
elements in order to meet the April deadline, couldn’t it?

If there’s goodwill — and I have no doubt of yours at all —
and seeing all the senators who share the same opinion, we could
send it off quickly. If the members of the other place don’t agree
with us, they could return the bill to us before the end of
March and then we could tell them whether we agree with them
or not.

In this case, I believe that’s our role. What do you think?

Senator Moreau: How can we not listen carefully to the wise
words of the dean of our Senate?

I can tell you, Senator Ringuette, that what we say here today
will reach the other place one way or another. I have no doubt
that the recommendations in the report, in its current form,
regardless of the decision the Senate makes on how to proceed
with this report, will also be communicated to the minister and to
the other place. As far as I’m concerned, I can easily commit to
forwarding the report directly to the minister’s office this
afternoon. There’s no doubt about that.

Now I’d like to address the technical aspect of the
recommendation you’re making. In order for a provision to be
passed into law, it must be subject to consultation. The
amendments we’re discussing here have not been subject to any
consultation. They relate to issues dealing with the
discriminatory second-generation cut-off. This issue has been the
subject of consultations since 2023 and the consultations will end
in December 2025. Based on these consultations, elements of the
proposed amendments may eventually be included in a bill, or
perhaps in another form, to be proposed by the government.

Since the amendments were tabled before any consultation on
them took place, they can’t be directly transposed into a bill.
That would not meet the consultation criterion. Any suggestions
proposed in the form of amendments or otherwise could,
following consultation — and if the groups consulted and the
government so desire — form part of the solutions.

I have not conducted a detailed legal analysis, but I assume
that there are likely elements proposed in the amendments that
should be included in the solution.

It is important to know that the discussions we are having
today, which are fundamental, will be heard in the other place
one way or another. How will the government respond? I don’t
know. I can’t make any promises. But I do believe that the
seriousness of the discussions we are having here today will be
reflected in the government’s deliberations at the end of the
consultations.

[English]

Hon. Sharon Burey: First, I would like to thank Senator
Greenwood and Senator Audette as well as the committee and
Senator Prosper in our group for the wonderful, extensive work
that they have done.

As a non-lawyer, I’m rising because I’m wondering how a
regular Canadian would think about this. I’m thinking about the
people watching, and the phrase that went through my mind is
“Justice delayed is justice denied.” I did a little bit of research,
and I came up with a paper entitled “Is justice delayed justice
denied? An empirical approach.”

They looked to analyze the relationship between judicial
timeliness and the quality of justice across 175 countries. What
they found, unsurprisingly, is:

Assuming the validity of our estimation strategies, our
results suggest that countries characterized by fast
judiciaries also enjoy high levels of quality of justice.

My question to you, Senator Moreau, is justice delayed justice
denied in this case? How long is too long?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: The maxim you are referring to is one that
is generally used in law. I am not looking to criticize or give a
law lesson, but it is generally used when talking about access to
the courts. Anyone who has a right and wants to go to court must
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be able to do so within a reasonable time frame. Otherwise, even
though the right exists, it will not be the courts that decide. This
is tantamount to denying the existence of a right.

In my view, this maxim does not apply in the case of
legislation, and certainly not in the case before us. Here, we are
not talking about Bill S-2, but rather about the amendments that
the committee wishes to make to Bill S-2. I am not talking about
whether the amendments are justified or not. Essentially, and I
want to make this clear, the minister, the government and I all
believe that the Indian Act must be amended to eliminate the
discrimination it contains.

• (1630)

The difficulty we face is that constitutional obligations are
obligations related to our duty to consult before making
amendments. The government believes that this ongoing
consultation process could lead to solutions that could be
incorporated into a bill specifically designed to resolve this issue.

Essentially, it is a different way of looking at the method that
should be proposed, and the government believes that a law that
receives Royal Assent without having been subject to the
consultation process could be deemed invalid if challenged in
court.

I responded to one of our colleagues a little earlier by saying
that we have an obligation, as senators, when we take the oath of
office and become members of this institution, to uphold and
defend the Constitution of Canada, not to pick and choose the
parts of the Constitution that suit us, but to defend it in its
entirety.

As we heard earlier, the Constitution prevents discrimination.
This consultation isn’t about whether the act is discriminatory or
not. I think we all recognize that the Indian Act is discriminatory.
However, the matter before us is that the amendments we make
have to follow a specific procedure, a procedure hard won by
Indigenous communities. That’s what we must respect, and that
is the Crown’s obligation.

[English]

Senator Batters: Senator Moreau, earlier you said the House
of Commons might not pass this if we in the Senate sent the bill
back to the House of Commons — not back, sent for the first
time — with these amendments. But let’s remember this bill is
numbered as Bill S-2, and that numbering means that the
government decided to initiate this bill in the Senate. That was
your government’s choice.

If the Senate decides to amend this bill, the government will
have to deal with it. The House of Commons routinely amends
C-bills in their house before they send them to us all the time,
government bills or not government bills. I would also like to
point out the government in the House of Commons currently has
a near majority of MPs.

Well, Steven Guilbeault just quit cabinet, so I don’t know if
he’s staying in caucus, but you’re pretty close to the number you
would need, so, hopefully, you can get some support there for
Senate amendments.

I would also point out that two of the Indigenous senators I
referenced earlier who voted yes to Bill S-2 amendments at
committee are lawyers, and three out of the remaining five
senators who voted yes to these amendments at committee are
also lawyers and, as such, would be keenly aware of the
constitutional obligations that you referenced earlier. How would
you respond to those two matters?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: With regard to your question about how the
Senate bill will be received by the House of Commons, I would
say that the answer can be found in the minister’s public
statements. The government is opposed to the amendments
because they do not comply with the constitutional duty to
consult.

With regard to the second question about how I feel about the
fact that some senators are lawyers and that they voted in favour
of the amendments, I don’t want to speak for them. I am telling
you the government’s opinion. As I said earlier, I have a lot of
respect for all of my colleagues and for the work that they have
done. You had to be at committee to hear the testimony. Lawyer
or not, this is not an easy situation.

I understand the intention and I do not think that anyone is
acting in bad faith or that they have any ulterior motives in
speaking in favour of the amendments.

I think there are two ways of looking at things. One way would
be to say that the Senate is clearly sending a message to the
government that it should take quick action in accordance with
these amendments, because they outline what we want it to do. In
my opinion, the government has received that message. The
minister herself said it. She appeared before the committee more
than once.

Now, she’s saying that since Bill S-2 in its current form seeks
to address the status of 3,500 people, since a court has issued its
opinion and since the bill addresses the court’s request set out in
Nicholas, the bill must be passed.

As for the rest, you and I won’t often agree on partisan aspects
of policy, but maybe we can come to terms on specific situations
and on the importance of the state and the Crown’s obligation to
comply with the Constitution regardless of what opinions legal
experts might throw around. The Crown itself believes in its
obligation to comply.

You and all of our colleagues will have an opportunity to
challenge the government’s sincerity if it fails to act in the short
or medium term, after Bill S-2 is passed, to end the
discrimination arising from the Indian Act, which the minister
herself recognizes.
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Senator Batters, I think you have enough experience in politics
to know that the government would have a lot fewer cards to play
if it didn’t act on the minister’s commitments.

I would like to echo what Senator Pate said earlier,
specifically, that we have seen this in the past. Governments that
have done so have probably paid the price for failing to honour
formal commitments on issues as fundamental as those we are
discussing today, namely, ending discrimination against
Indigenous Peoples at a time when the government has embarked
on a process of reconciliation and wishes to establish a
relationship for nation-to-nation negotiations. It seems to me that
any defensive arguments that might follow would be rather
tenuous.

[English]

Senator McCallum: When we look at the bill and what it
contains, it goes beyond the strict issues raised in Nicholas. The
points are that Indians can deregister; natal bands — so women
can choose to go back to their home band; and we’re removing
outdated language such as “mentally incompetent Indians.”
Those don’t involve the Nicholas litigants, but the second-
generation cut-off will impact many of them. When this goes
through, they are going to stand in line now for another case.

If you believe the consultations will lead to a bill in the new
year — is that what you said? No? Okay. Anyway, if there is a
bill that will come — but the minister did say that. If it is going
to come, then why are we waiting? Why are we not going to add
it to this list of three that do not involve the Nicholas litigants
while the second-generation cut-off does?

[Translation]

Senator Moreau: You didn’t want me to answer Senator
Audette’s first question; you confirmed that the minister made a
commitment concerning the timeline for introducing a bill. I
can’t make that commitment because my powers are limited. The
minister can make commitments that I don’t have the power to
make.

• (1640)

However, I can confirm that the consultations currently under
way will end in December. The minister will receive a report at
the end of the consultations and will follow through on the
commitments she made before the Standing Senate Committee
on Indigenous Peoples by proposing what she considers to be the
best way to resolve the issue.

As I understand it — and as I think you and Senator Audette
understand it — the minister has made a commitment to submit a
proposal to resolve the issue of the discriminatory second-
generation cut-off.

(On motion of Senator LaBoucane-Benson, debate adjourned.)

[English]

BILL TO AMEND THE WEIGHTS AND MEASURES ACT,
THE ELECTRICITY AND GAS INSPECTION ACT, THE
WEIGHTS AND MEASURES REGULATIONS AND THE
ELECTRICITY AND GAS INSPECTION REGULATIONS

SECOND READING

On the Order:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Varone, seconded by the Honourable Senator Arnot,
for the second reading of Bill S-3, An Act to amend the
Weights and Measures Act, the Electricity and Gas
Inspection Act, the Weights and Measures Regulations and
the Electricity and Gas Inspection Regulations.

Hon. Yonah Martin (Deputy Leader of the Opposition):
Honourable senators, I rise today as critic of Bill S-3, An Act to
amend the Weights and Measures Act, the Electricity and Gas
Inspection Act, the Weights and Measures Regulations and the
Electricity and Gas Inspection Regulations.

Let me state that I support the overall aims of this bill.

Modernizing Canada’s trade measurement system is not only
timely; it is long overdue. The laws governing weights and
measures and electricity and gas meters have remained largely
unchanged in their core structure since the 1980s, an era before
the internet, before mobile devices and long before today’s
digital innovation.

In the meantime, technology has transformed how businesses
operate and consumers buy and sell goods. We need to update
our framework to reflect this new reality and align with
international practices so that Canadian trade remains fair,
efficient and globally competitive.

Trade measurement affects Canadians in countless ordinary
transactions, from the gas pump, to the grocery store scale, to the
electricity meter on the side of the house. When you pay for a
litre of fuel or a kilowatt hour of power, accurate measurement is
what ensures you receive what you are charged for. These
statutes are the foundation of consumer confidence and a fair,
competitive environment for businesses across the country.

It is with that in mind that I welcome the intent of Bill S-3 to
update our measurement laws for the digital age.

I also recognize that stakeholders have been calling for these
updates for some time. In 2023, the government undertook public
consultations to gather input on how to modernize these acts.
These consultations included a range of industry stakeholders
who generally agreed that modernization is overdue. They see
this bill as crucial to keeping pace with technology and
international standards.
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The feedback was clear: Canada’s trade measurement
framework needs to be more flexible and better suited to today’s
marketplace.

However, I note that input from small consumer organizations
was more limited during those consultations. We should always
be mindful of the consumer perspective, especially for ordinary
Canadians who rely on these measurements but are not often
directly involved in consultations. Modernization must work for
consumers and small businesses just as much as for large
industry players.

Honourable colleagues, as critic for Bill S-3, I support the
bill’s objectives and commend the government for addressing
this important area of the economy. My role is to offer
constructive scrutiny, ask questions and flag issues where
implementation needs to be done right. In that spirit, I will
outline a few key concerns and questions.

First, I want to focus on procedural fairness. My main concern
is not simply that the bill grants broad powers, but also how those
powers will be used in practice and whether people who are
affected will receive clear explanations and a genuine
opportunity to respond when their rights or livelihoods are at
stake.

Bill S-3 would give Measurement Canada and the responsible
minister significant flexibility to manage approvals and
permissions. Under a new subsection 6(1) of the Electricity and
Gas Inspection Act, the President of Measurement Canada would
be able to “. . . suspend or revoke any certificate issued under
subsection 6(2).” In practical terms, the president could cancel a
contractor’s registration under that act, effectively removing their
ability to operate in the regulated electricity or gas market if the
requirements are no longer met.

New section 6.2 would then allow the president, “. . . under
any conditions and for the period that the President specifies . . .”
to exempt any contractor or class of contractors from the
application of provisions of the act or its regulations other than
subsection 6(2).

On the weights and measures side, new section 8.1 would
permit the minister to allow:

. . . a trader to use, or have in their possession for use, in
trade, any device on a temporary basis for any period and
under any conditions that the Minister specifies, without
approval or examination.

I acknowledge that there are situations where this kind of
flexibility is both sensible and necessary. If a registered service
provider for weighing devices or meters is consistently
underperforming or acting improperly, Measurement Canada
must be able to intervene.

Likewise, when a promising new technology appears, it is
reasonable to allow it to be used on a pilot basis rather than
holding it back for years in a lengthy approval queue. The
question is how we can be confident that these powers will be
exercised in a way that is fair, transparent and consistent.

The bill does include procedural safeguards, which are
important. Before suspending or revoking a permission or
certificate, the minister or the president must provide written
notice, give the affected person a “. . . reasonable
opportunity . . .” to make representations and take those
representations into account before deciding whether to suspend
or revoke. That is a valuable starting point.

What is less clear is how this will work in practice. What will
count as a reasonable opportunity in terms of timing, information
and process? Will affected contractors receive reasons that
explain the decision in a way that allows them to meaningfully
object or correct misunderstandings? Will there be clear and
accessible avenues to seek a review or reconsideration beyond
the internal process?

Under the proposed amendments to section 23 of the
Electricity and Gas Inspection Act, if a person who receives a
certificate of findings is dissatisfied and gives notice to the
inspector within the prescribed time, the inspector must refer the
matter to the president for reconsideration in the prescribed
manner. New subsection 23(4) provides that “The president’s
decision on a matter referred to them under subsection (3) is final
and conclusive.”

In practice, this means the president is the final decision maker
for these disputes and, in other areas of the amended act, also
acts as the original decision maker on suspensions, revocations
and exemptions. That concentration of authority heightens the
importance of getting the notice and representation process right,
because for many affected businesses, this may be their only real
opportunity to be heard.

Procedural fairness also matters in how inspection powers are
modernized. Under the amended acts, inspectors would be able to
enter any non-residential place, including a business site or
vehicle, if they have reasonable grounds to believe that an
activity regulated by the act is being conducted there or that
something to which the act applies is located there. Once on site,
inspectors may examine the place; examine or test devices and
goods found there; seize and detain items; use any means of
communication; use computer or telecommunication systems on
the premises to examine data; and reproduce electronic records
and prepare documents based on that data.

• (1650)

Under the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act, there is a
specific carve-out that prevents inspectors from seizing a meter
that is in service, which reflects the particular realities of
electricity and gas supply.

The bill also expressly recognizes that inspections can be
carried out remotely by clarifying that an inspector is considered
to have “entered” a place even if they access it remotely by
telecommunication. This remote inspection authority is
innovative and, in many cases, a practical way to deliver more
timely and cost-effective oversight using digital tools.
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I agree that we should make full use of technology to make
compliance checks more efficient, but that makes it even more
important to have clear internal policies and training to ensure
that these powers are used proportionately and only for legitimate
inspection purposes.

Regulatory inspections of businesses have long been
recognized as an exception to the usual warrant requirements
based on the logic that those who choose to engage in regulated
commercial activities accept a higher degree of oversight and a
reduced expectation of privacy compared to a private home.

The bill appropriately maintains the safeguard that entering a
dwelling still requires either consent or a warrant issued by a
justice. Even so, in a commercial context, Charter protections,
notably section 8 on unreasonable search and seizure, continue to
apply to prevent abuse.

I fully acknowledge that modernizing inspection powers is
necessary. Done well, these changes will make inspections more
efficient and help prevent future cases of non-compliance. The
challenge and the concern I want to underline is to make sure that
as these broad powers are rolled out, the processes around notice,
explanation, the opportunity to respond and internal review are
robust enough to give businesses and the public confidence that
the powers will be exercised fairly and proportionately, not
arbitrarily.

One of the positive elements of Bill S-3 is its focus on
reducing unnecessary regulatory burdens on low-risk, small-scale
operators. Our current system can indeed be heavy for small
businesses, especially those for whom selling measured goods is
just a minor part of what they do. The bill introduces a more
flexible approach under which the president may exempt certain
contractors or classes of contractors from the application of some
or all provisions of the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act and its
regulations, subject to conditions.

However, when we open the door to this kind of flexibility, it
becomes even more important to be clear about how it will work
in practice. I fully support the principle of rightsizing the
regulatory burden, but we owe it to small operators and
consumers alike to be very clear about how these exemptions will
be defined and applied. Proposed section 6.2 would empower the
President of Measurement Canada to grant exemptions for “any
contractor or class of contractors” under conditions they specify.

In practice, this gives the president a fair bit of discretion, and
it will likely fall to regulations or policy guidelines to spell out
which kinds of contractors might qualify — for example, what
counts as a small or low-volume business eligible for exemption?
Are we talking about businesses under a certain revenue or sales
threshold, or those for whom metered sales are only incidental? It
would be helpful to know the criteria up front so that we ensure
this relief is targeted properly.

Moreover, we need to be confident that consumers dealing
with an exempted business are not left vulnerable. The bill
provides regulation-making authority for:

. . . prescribing the requirements to be satisfied before the
president may grant any exemption, approval, permission or
authorization under this Act . . . .

This is intended to ensure that any exemption is tied to clear
conditions and safeguards.

I also have a concern from the standpoint of competitive
neutrality. If one business receives an exemption and a direct
competitor does not, that could easily be perceived as unfair. My
understanding is that the policy intention is to exempt classes of
businesses that meet clear, objective criteria, rather than to select
individual winners, and it would be helpful to have that
confirmed.

In the end, this kind of flexibility can be very useful,
particularly as our economy sees more innovative business
models and energy projects. The key will be to implement the
process in a transparent way, with a clear description of who
qualifies and how consumer protection will be maintained.

A central theme of Bill S-3 is support for innovation. We want
to create space for new kinds of measuring technologies to come
forward. On the weights and measures side, proposed section 8.1
would allow the minister to permit a trader to use a device in
trade on a temporary basis for any period and under any
conditions that the minister specifies “. . . without approval or
examination.” Under the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act, the
president would have the ability, for example under proposed
subsection 12(3), to permit any meter or meters of a given class,
type or design to remain in service for a specified period and
under stated conditions without reverification or resealing.

In practical terms, these tools would let Canadians access
cutting-edge technologies sooner and help businesses test new
solutions in real market conditions. We do not want a system so
rigid that a device is effectively outdated by the time it clears
every approval hurdle. Properly implemented, this kind of
temporary permission model could make Canada a more
attractive jurisdiction for developing, introducing and testing
innovations in the measurement field.

Bill S-3 will not implement itself. Its success will depend very
much on how Measurement Canada and the department translate
these new powers and flexibilities into day-to-day practice for
inspectors, businesses and consumers. The bill points to
preventative control-type plans, risk-based inspections and new
digital tools. On paper, these are constructive ideas. In practice,
they will require clear guidance, updated procedures and steady
communication so that everyone understands what is expected of
them.

Departmental officials have noted: While the bill introduces
the legislative framework and broad amendments to the
Electricity and Gas Inspection Act and the Weights and Measures
Act, the detailed translation of these changes into practical
application will be largely driven by subsequent regulatory
amendments. These regulations will address the specifics of
compliance, exemptions, powers and operational procedures
stemming from the updated acts.

November 27, 2025 SENATE DEBATES 1155



From my conversations with officials, I was encouraged to
hear that the approach to non-compliance is intended to be
gradual, with an emphasis on education, dialogue and corrective
measures before any severe sanctions are considered. That
philosophy is important.

Small businesses in particular need to know that if they fall
short of a new requirement, the first response will usually be to
work with them to fix the problem, not to immediately revoke a
certificate or shut down operations. I would ask the government
to confirm how that stepped approach will be reflected in policy
and in the training that inspectors receive.

Implementation is also where costs and benefits will be felt.
Modern digital meters and systems can improve accuracy and
reduce administrative burden, but they also involve investment.
We should be attentive to the risk that compliance costs are
simply passed on to consumers in the form of higher prices. If we
get the implementation right, Bill S-3’s goals can reduce red tape
and improve fairness in the marketplace, rather than simply
shifting burdens around.

The world of weights and measures is a global one, and
Canada should be a respected player in metrology internationally
because our businesses and consumers benefit when our
standards align with those of our trading partners. Bill S-3 rightly
emphasizes moving toward a more flexible, future-focused
legislative framework. One aspect of this is how we incorporate
evolving international standards. Measurement technology
standards are often set or benchmarked by international bodies.

These standards will continue to evolve as technology changes.
We should not end up again in a situation where the law stands
still for decades while the marketplace moves ahead.

• (1700)

The requirement for a legislative review every 10 years is a
positive step, because it means we should not wait another
40 years before reassessing these statutes. The amended Weights
and Measures Act and the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act will
require the minister to cause a review of each act and its
operation to be completed before the tenth anniversary of the
relevant coming-into-force date, and every 10 years thereafter,
and to have a report of that review tabled in both houses of
Parliament.

At the same time, even between those formal reviews, the
regulatory system needs to be nimble enough to respond in real
time to innovation and international best practices. In my view,
that is the purpose of moving toward a more outcome-based,
technology-neutral framework. Canada should be able to adopt
new technologies quickly rather than falling behind our partners
or becoming a destination for outdated equipment.

I want to underline how important that is, and I am encouraged
that Bill S-3 moves us in that direction.

Honourable senators, I have spoken to several themes,
including procedural fairness, the shape of business exemptions,
the balance between innovation and consumer protection, how
the bill will be put into practice and our alignment with

international standards. These are precisely the kinds of issues
that the Senate, as the chamber of sober second thought, is well
placed to scrutinize.

None of the questions I have raised undermine my support for
this legislation; rather, they are intended to reinforce how it will
work on the ground and to build public confidence in it. Bill S-3
already contains many welcome measures that will strengthen
protections for consumers and modernize the framework that
underpins our economy, helping Canada maintain confidence in
its measurement system and keep our industries competitive
abroad.

What we must do now is ensure that, as we implement these
modern tools, we also maintain our commitment to fairness and
accountability. I am encouraged by the government’s
collaborative approach so far, including consultations and
openness to feedback. In fact, during my technical briefing with
officials, I saw in them a sincere dedication to being
collaborative with industry and businesses, with the consumers in
mind. I was quite impressed with their responses.

I highlighted some of the concerns that could be raised, for
absolute certainty, but I felt quite confident in the responses that I
received from officials. I wanted to make that clear as well.

In conclusion, I encourage all senators to allow this bill to be
sent to committee with a strong endorsement of its goals, coupled
with a clear expectation that the concerns raised will be
addressed. Canada’s marketplace depends on accurate,
trustworthy measurements; it is a foundational piece of our
economic infrastructure that we sometimes take for granted.

Measurements are everywhere. As I was preparing for this
speech, I looked at how this would impact businesses across
Canada, small and large. With this bill, we have a chance to bring
that foundation I mentioned up to date. Let us do so carefully and
thoughtfully every step of the way. Thank you.

The Hon. the Speaker: Is it your pleasure, honourable
senators, to adopt the motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

(Motion agreed to and bill read second time.)

REFERRED TO COMMITTEE

The Hon. the Speaker: Honourable senators, when shall this
bill be read the third time?

(On motion of Senator Clement, bill referred to the Standing
Senate Committee on Banking, Commerce and the Economy.)
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RULES, PROCEDURES AND THE RIGHTS  
OF PARLIAMENT

FIRST REPORT OF COMMITTEE—DEBATE ADJOURNED

The Senate proceeded to consideration of the first report of the
Standing Committee on Rules, Procedures and the Rights of
Parliament, entitled Amendments to the Rules —Question Period
with a Minister, presented in the Senate on November 25, 2025.

Hon. Peter Harder moved the adoption of the report.

He said: Honourable senators, my comments will be brief.

I want to draw to your attention the report from the Rules
Committee. Everyone will remember that, on June 4, we adopted
a motion asking the committee to examine whether the
ministerial Question Period should be incorporated into the rules
of this chamber. It is a practice that members will have become
familiar with over the last 10 years.

The committee undertook this study in the course of the last
month and has reported to the chamber with this report that it
does believe that the rules should be amended to reflect
ministerial Question Period in this chamber. That was the
overwhelming recommendation, although not unanimous, from
the committee.

The committee would also like to make additional points, the
first of which is that we should leave to a sessional order the
details regarding the conduct, timing and other measures related
to the execution of that rule, in line with what we’ve put into
practice for the last number of years, but in deference to the
conversations that leaders must have to incorporate in the
sessional order and provide guidance to this chamber.

As a committee, we also undertook to provide some guidance
to the leaders’ discussions on how the sessional order should be
constructed and also how the list of ministers and the decisions
relating to the comportment of the Question Period should go.
That is a list for your consideration and for the consideration of
leaders as we move forward.

But the crux of the report — the important thing — is to
entrench in the rules of this place the practice of ministerial
Question Period in the chamber.

(On motion of Senator Martin, debate adjourned.)

ADJOURNMENT

MOTION ADOPTED

Hon. Patti LaBoucane-Benson (Legislative Deputy to the
Government Representative in the Senate), pursuant to notice
of November 26, 2025, moved:

That, when the Senate next adjourns after the adoption of
this motion, it do stand adjourned until Tuesday,
December 2, 2025, at 2 p.m.

The Hon. the Speaker: Is it your pleasure, honourable
senators, to adopt the motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

(Motion agreed to.)

BUSINESS OF THE SENATE

Hon. Patti LaBoucane-Benson (Legislative Deputy to the
Government Representative in the Senate): Honourable
senators, with leave of the Senate and notwithstanding
rule 5-13(2), I move:

That the Senate do now adjourn.

The Hon. the Speaker: Is leave granted, honourable senators?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

(At 5:08 p.m., the Senate was continued until Tuesday,
December 2, 2025, at 2 p.m.)
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